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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

STUDY SUMMARY

St. Edward’s Seminary, designed by the notable Seattle architect, John Graham Sr., and was constructed
in 1931, Tts original purpose was to educate young men from the region for the priesthood. For 45 years
St. Edward’s Seminary fulfilled its educational mission. In 1976 the building and grounds were sold to /
the State of Washington. .. 2

PROJECT DATA

St. Edward Seminary is located on the East Shore of the North End of Lake Washington. It is part of

the City of Kenmore, in King County, Washington. The Seminary and its grounds are presently owned
- by the State and constitute Saint Edward State Park.

Eusnr FRET T

St. Edward Seminary was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in April 2007,



ST. EDWARD’S

THE SULPICIAN SEMINARY GF THE NORTHWEST

STUDIES

Scholastic standards are the very highvst

St Fdward's s pre-eminent mnong schools fully ac-
credited by the State of Washington and the Northwest As
sociation of Higher Schoals and College The twelve-
year course jx divided int two departments envefully
attuned to the age level of their respective studente. Ak
though each has its own faculty, they form an integrated
whele, Together, they pave the road for trausition from
"hoyhioad through youth to the sthood, “The [itst, or
wr sceminary, embraces high school and junfor college.
‘The sweond, or major sminary, consists of senlor college,
or philosophy, and theology.

w

iy mast desivable that gudents for the priesthaod cider
5. ard’i Seminary immedietely wpon completion of
the eighth grade.

A large libeury, whways kept up to date, includes religi
works, classics, and carefally selected fietion and nen-fiction
as well as all the peference waterial wquired by sehaol
s

nssligi

isainTd
| |Eowanes,
EEI'NM

Tue Suieicias  Fatuees  founded
thels fist semdnary in the year 1641 in the old world.
At that time they Taid down basic ideals for the spirftual
and educational traintig of young men for the privsts
Twod. The tareh thus ignited has been carried on sinee
an everinereasing number  of piclas
The first one in the U, 8, was founded i
1700 in the varly American city of Baltimore, Tt la-
s and
uny nation,

W difigently smong te color
seed the entice

aprned, 1 were s

Through e
n Society has

years from that (i

there are Interesting hobbies, games and gports 1o keep bim
alort and interested,  Healthful, vigorons games and intra-
mural sports are a regular purt of the wellorganized ath-
Totie program in which all students are encouraged to
participate. Tncluded are buseball, football, tennis, track,
jmming, baskethall, bikes, ete. The natural desiee
y boy for ciwn play and keen copipetition does niuch
in developing strong minds and sound bodics. Sporis of
all kinds are encouraged and foster

OTHER ACTIVITIES

56l other recreatianal
pastines, all of which do
their part in molding char-
acter and  ereating  the
Catholic spirit within the
e choral singing, -
and Mission Sn-

Estra-curricular  activities
include s
terests, T
aivpline modeling, photog-
raphy np colleeting and
the St ised =11
Clulr w!
eulvie and  animal - hus-
bandry.

St Edwards' Semlnary—dedicated in 1931
b the education of pricsts In the Nartiwen.

A oty spot. nertted wnons tie
avergieont of Iathigia it

ST. EDWARD’S SEMINARY

striven to build newer and better schools for the boys
aid young men whe asplre to the priesthood of e
Catholie Clurch. St Edv
of the Northwest, was de ed Lo its patron Saint and
glven to the work of God in Octeber of 19351, A schoal
of Cutholic perfection, it ed 1o cultivating the
most enlightened mwen of «

s, the Sulpician Seminary

the priests who serve
Holy Mother Church. Sinee 1939 more than one hun-
dred young men have been ondained to the priesthood
from St Edward's, Beauti
Lake Winlington, 51,
mold for the diocsan pricsthosd of the Northwest.

iy Tocated on the shores of

Fdward's is the cradle und the

DINING

Mealtime at St Edward's, These is never a lack of the -

good  things which a hountiful God has created for the
table. Lots of fresh milk and vewetables and froits w
up part of the tastily and expely prepared weals

Kitehens are spotkss and all cooking is done usder skilled
gquidance. The dining reom s large and well appointed and
shured by swidents and faculty alike. The boys take s
waitlng on tables. Four dags aut of seven, during the
dinner and supper hoors, an informative baok is read aloud
From the leetern by one of the seminuri

RO OMS

Each hoy lives in an attractiv
bl for its cle

d camfartabile raam,
He i respor lincess and manst keep i
ordurly wt all times. Rooms ave provided with study desks
a bookease and a statue of Mary, Seat of Wisdom,

In the quict of his swn
anrroundings, the fulie
priest finds swlitade for
study and meditaton.

General Information

Admissien: St. Edward's is
for hoys and youny men who
wish to become pricsts, It is
necessary that such youths
consult their pastors before
applying for enrollment.

Transportafion: The Seminary is two miles
from Kenmore on the Juanita cut=ofl from the
Bothell Highway, The Kirkland bus from the
il and Stewsrt: Depot in Seattle stops al the
entranec.

Baggage: Freight or express should be sent to
the student in care af St. Edward’s Seminary,
Bathell, Washington, via Northern Pacific R; R,
or the Amerdcan Express Company.

Visitors: Visiting hours at the school are from
1:00 1o +:00 p. m. on the third Sunday of
ing privilege is reserved
for parents and elose relutives anly,

every moith. The v

Vaeations: All students reccive the traditional

Christmas and stmmer vacators.,

Clothing: A dark bluc suit is required for Sun-
duys and special wear. Usual dress consists of
dark trousers with blue or black sweater. For

the students in the Major Seminary the house
drese consists o cassock, Roman collar and
biretia,

Linen: Students Turnish their own hed-
and should have an ample supply of sheets and
sminary supplies blankets,

pillow cases, The
Lousidry: Laundry may be sent home via par-
el post or o the Kirkland Laundry which pro-
vides service to the Seminary. St. Edward's

Cowann’s SEaTINARY,
L Wasinnaron.

MO

THE TRUE PURPOSE
OF ST. EDWARDS

ceted towards the e
purpose of St Rdward's
“that the stadent iy
lewrn 1o know God better,
1o know himsell well and
o govern himseld wisely
s that eventually he way
salely entrusted
Ity responsil
ordination will  bring 1o
0T

The master e inte
which the boy's  spiritual
life is fitted is the
af the Church, The
Sacrificr

wd of the m, «
creiag. o bopins Sk dnidid
th prayer. On Sundays
anul feas Sulw cin Mass and
Vespirs an ung e Greg-
orian Lh.nm in which the
students ate wained.

Onmpanon—the great culmination of long years of
sudy and bumble proparation far the pm»:lmud l"hia
crowning climax of sacrfice and devotion o
tomarrow for the young man who has given Iunml{ o uu
of the Chureh and represents the proudest day
in< parents” lives. The new priest goes forth with anci
Jands, another Christ, 1o sing his Pisst Solemn Mass in his
own parish chureh, Afwe e is asigned to take up
the word of the priesthoad in one of the parishes of his




s

DRAFT September 28, 2007

PART I: HISTORY OF SAINT EDWARD SEMINARY
HISTORY AND CONTEXT

Note: Much of the historical information contained here is taken from the National Register registration
form, October 2006.

Phste  carporr .
o e
HISTORlCA}‘ CONTEXT ¢FA

5

The constyuction of Saint Edward Seminary in 1931 w//s, in many senses, the culmination of neatly a
century of Catholic life in the Pacific Northwest, The!Catholic Church’s first permanent presence in the
future Washington State was the arrival in 1838 of two French Canadians, Father Francis Blanchet and
Father Modeste Demets. They made a hazardous six-month journey from Montreal to Vancouver to
serve the spiritual needs of Hudson’s Bay Company employees. In 1846 Father Blanchet became bishop
of Oregon City (later the Diocese of Portland). The following year his younger brother, Father Augustin
Blanchet, was named Bishop of Walla Walla, and, in 1850, the Bishop of Nesqually, a new diocese
established near Olympia. By 1864 the new diocese had approximately 8,000 (?athoh'cs.

Lo
By 1896, when Bishop Edward J. O’Dea was consecrated as the third Bishop of Nesqually, the state’s

-. Catholic population had more than tripled to 30,000, served by 57 priests and 46 churches. Howevet,

the state was on the verge of tremendous growth caused by the arrival of the transcontinental railroad
and the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897. In 1903 Bishop O’Dea received permission from the Vatican to
move the diocesan seat to Seattle, which had become the regional population and economic center. In
this period of growth, Bishop O’Dea came to be known as a builder of Catholic institutions. In 1907 he
completed construction of St. James Cathedral, recognized to this day s one of the city’s most
prominent buildings. Borsant

Despite this growth, the church in the Northwest relied on distant seminaties to educate its priests.
Bishop O’Dea consideted the lack of priests to be a bartier to increased growth of the church, and he
made it his goal to build a regional seminary to train priests for diocesan and parish work. Working with
other bishops of the region, he was able to meet this goal in 1931 with the opening of St. Edward
Seminary, For neatly fifty years the new institution provided up to twelve years of education from high
school through graduate-level theology for young men who were interested in becoming parish priests in
the patticipating dioceses. It also provided a Catholic high school education for hundreds of young men
at a time when there were few Catholic high jchools.

k Lo

Larnat
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SIGNIFICANCE

Saint Edward Seminary, with its 316 acres of grounds, was placed on the Washington Heritage Register
in 1997 and listed in the National Register of Historic Places'in 2006. The property is significant
primarily for its important role in the religious history and development of the Pacific Northwest, as
Washington State’s first seminary for the education of Catholic diocesan priests. The period of
significance is from its construction in 1931 until 1958 when it was downgraded to a minor seminary
focusing on a high school curriculum. R
The main building is also significant as a major work of John Graham, Sr., one of the Pacific
Northwest’s most prominent architects, The seminary building possesses numerous distinctive
characteristics of its Late Romanesque Revival architectural style, of its period of construction at the
beginning of the Depression and of its building type, a seat of religious education.

The property has 15 individual elements from the seminary period, of which 12 are historically
significant. These include two buildings (the 1931 seminary building and the 1951
gymnasiums/auditorium) and ten landscape features that reflect the religious and recreational aspects of
the site’s history. These elements are the Great Lawn on the west (including the plinth of the original
statue of Maty); the tock Grotto (which otiginally contained a mal altar and a statue of St. John
Vianney); the Nuns’ Gatden; the Orchard; the Crucifix/Graveyard area (which originally had a crucifix
and the graves of two ptiests); the Sports Field to the east; the Volleyball Court; the Beach; and the

Forest Trails, STdTos o Cocr cABIwT {"p’ n::? BTl HONE Il Kidzie ol

S e e

Prere crean i

retleaf’\The Catholic Northwest Progress, October 9, 1931, featuring St. Edward’s Seminary



Rotogramce
Enition

St. Edward's
Seminary

His Excellency His Excellency
EDWARD J. O'DEA, D. D. JOSEPH F. McGRATH, D. D.
Bishop of Seattle Bishiop of Baler City

His Excellency His Excellency
CHARLES D, WHITE, D.D. = EDWARD D. HOWARD, D. D.
Bishap of Spokane Aschbishop of Portland in Orcgon

His Eminepce
DENNIS CARTY WAL OUCHERTY
Axchbishap &f Philadelphia

Hiz Excellency His Excellency who will officiate at the dedication of Sc. Edward's Seminary here Hix Excellexcy His Excellency
EDWIN V. O'HARA, D. D. GEORGE J. FINNIGAN, C.5.C.,D.D. at 2 P. M. Tuesday, October 13, The Archbishop and all the JOSEPH R. CRIMONT, 5. J., D.D.  EDWARD JOSEPH KELLY, D. D
Bishop of Great Falls Bishop of Helena Bishops of this ecclesiastical province will be present for the dedi-

Vicar-Apostolic of Alaska Bishop of Boise

cation, which opens a new epach in the history of the Church in
the Necthwest. Archbishop Howard will deliver the dedicatory
address, Ceremonies will begin with a Solemn Pontifical Mass in
the Seminary Chapel at 10 A, M. Bishop McGrach will be cele-
beant and Bishop Kelly will preach the sermon.

(At feft) SEMINARY
ARMS are thoswe of St
Eéward the Contessor
with the mcutcheon of the
Sulpicians of the United
States,

(Af right) THE VERY REV.
THOMAS C. MULLIGAN, §5.,
DD, President of 5t. Edwasd's
Seminary, which is conducted
by the Sulpician Fathers.

Phato by McBride Shedia

ST. EDWARD’S PREPARATORY SEMINARY

Where the fufure priests of the ecclesiastical province of the Nartbwest will be trained, It is fo be the fouxtain head and source of spiritual life, it is smrety that the saving works of the Church will be carried on beve for the

satvation of souls of gemerations yet wmbarw, It is the fulfillnsent of the earnest desire of our Holy Father t§:Pope that each ecclesiastical proviuce shall bave its own seminary, and it is the crowning achievement of the long and

distinguished service which Bishop O’Dea bas given to God awd man. Our beloved leader, dean in poiut of service of all American Bishops, observed the thirty-fifth 'y of bis fore am Scptember §th of this year.

The magnif build) in a modified R style of b ., #s of ateel and comcrete construction, faced with tapesity brick m warm tones of light buff and broun and trimmed with cast stone. From a bigh

eminence it looks westward across Lake Washington. The site comprises three bundred acves on the lake bettween Kenmore and Kirkland and is owe of the finest possesred by amy seminary. . . . The perfection of the building is to

be credited to Hewrikson-Alstrom Co., general contractors, and the fine co-operation of their sub-contractor: and material men, . . . 8t. Edward's will be conducted by the Sulpician Fathers. The Sulpicians are devoied solely to
the work of educating young men far the priesthaod.




October 8, 1831

Gatholic Northwest Pronress Rotongrapure Section

FIRST CLASSES AT ST. EDW ARD'S—Tbis group of fifty-ane young inarians from Washi Oregon, M, s Idabo and
British Columbia, regisicred on the opening day September 19, 1951, Foculty members (in the vear) are, left to right: the Rev.
Jobn Dougherty, S. 5.; the Rev. Donat Talbot, 8. 5., registrar; the Very Rev, Thomas C, Mulligan, 5. S., president; the Rev. Paul
LeBlane, S, 5.; the Rev, Michael Shechan, 5. S., and the Rev. Jaseph Dovghevty. The inscription above the dooriway: “Spes Meashs
in Semine,” means “The Hope of the Hurvest Is in the Sowing.”

ok

SOUTHEAST PORTAL—""For ibem 1 sametify (awd saerifice) Myself," proclaims the insceiftion
above this arfitic entrance. Carf stowe for the dowrmay awd for exterior Frimmings thranghont
the bnilding was manufactured by the Pacific Stowe Ca. of Seattle.

THE TOWER—This photograph reveals interesting de-
tails of architecture, The tile alop the tower and roof
as supplicd by the Geijsbeck Roof Tile Co.

STUDENT'S ROOM—Typical of 111 ceams in the building. Every
wme is furnished umply but comfartably, Cabinet wark througbeut
the building was done by Nerdquint & Nelwsa.

are all that conld be desived. Semiwary du
those im other sehosls. Bl fi i
of mure hleal sxrrowndi

Bigher intpivation.

REFECTORY—In this beautiful well-lighted dining ball, at the novth end of the building, stu-

demts and priests are assembled for one af the first meals of the year. Notice the student in the

lectern (left). During luncheon and dinner, except on

read pasiages from the Bible, the “Following of Christ,
biography and travel,

4 S
[ et BT i . e

ndays and bolidays, the studewts, in turs,
the Martyrology and baoks of bistory,

STUDY HALL—Lighting, ventilation and beating in this racm awd thranghont the seminary THE CHAPEL—T M clanireom rpare will
wis are wormal, bealthy, fun-laving boyr, Uke later years. Ri
rions in their srudies. A rerult, mo doubt, Mau an

pel watil the greater seminary is complered in

wr hamgings in brawn awd gald canchy the plain weoden altar. Here the bays attend

anian each maring sud [requently during the day ilip in far private prayers
The pews, of Batan wabogawy, wers built by A. Wespecher.
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@autlolic Noethwest Jropress Rotogravure Section 3

;, 1he belp of God

rried bim

reb thromgh many dificalt periads of

FROM THE AIR—Thi
raph

shall succeed ! Hix

Exedincy s deslertng. Ard b beertng o el s b clbrast vatce proclatmed the fath and courege 1hat
be Chu

v and achlevement i the Nortbwart.

ul growth of pine
and_fir. Photographs for
this edition were taken for
The Progren by Webiter

Lumber for St. Edward's Seminary was supplicd
by Stewart Lumber 5 Hardware Ce.

"GO TEACH ALL NATIONS" — This intpiring toblean
crowns the Jacads of 3t. Mary's Seminary, Baltimare.

(Right)—ST. MARY'S SEMINARY,

Raltimore, conduried by the Sulpl-
ciaw Fatbers, Js the oldest séminary
In this canntry. It war founded when
George Warkingion was President of
the United States. Cardinal Gibbons
and a hort of ether noted leaders of
the Church were educated there,

(Intert) The \m, Rev. Jobn F.
Fenlon, S, 5., president of S1. Mary's
Seminary uwd provincial of the Sui-
picians in the United Stater.

"It is omur purpose fo make Si
Edward's the St Mary's of 1he
West,” sald Fatber Fenlom at the lay-
ing of the cormer sionn heve. He will
attend the dedication ceremonies
wext Tuesday.

{Above)
LAID THE CORNER
STONE—Hi1 Excel-
lemey the Mot Reve

ictro Fumasomi-

Biondi, Apostelic Del-

egate fo the United

States, laid the cormer

itone for St Edward's

Seminary just ome
year ugo.

ASEMINARY DOORW AY—Tbe yanth ewleving thir dosrway it 4 fype of bmdreds
and thousands wbs, in yesrs ts come, will be trained heve to be the guldes und Tead-
erraf a Christian peaple, the pride alike of their Country and their Chureb.

ST. PATRICK'S SEMINARY, Mealo Pack, Calif., where students from Northwert dioceies usio go for

T# alis s couducted by the Sulplelan Fatbers,

ST. JOSEPH'

'S PREPARATORY SEMINARY, Moustuln View, Calif., where fourth year students from bere will
comtinua their conrse 1his y




4 @atholic Northwest Jrogress Rotogravuee Sertion (Brtoher 9, 1931

1:.-’.1‘ ":-:s.'if:.'::::: rs;:.:u.:z!{r:: ;t;:.:-::: ::;g Here is an architect's sketch of the Seminary as it will be in later years with additions to accommodate a major

oo ity gl bk g sl e sensinary, The unit now completed is af the left (encircled by a light line). At the right is the proposed chapel.
anpplicd the brick for S1. Edward's. The L in the rear will be for the major seminary.

e

A Nun Speaks |

to Mary

"Take me in service, in
complete sureender,

Waking and sleeping:

Taka evicy dulp task,

}  take cvery duty,

B Take licele homely

B o se dusing

i sweeping;

R Clange them into your

| heavenly  housckeep-
ing;

Touch them with Naz-
arcth’s most stricken
beaury.*

qujﬂ_ﬁcﬁn and ;zx-uﬁgl men, who toalk
creditable part in the building of St. Edward’
Seminary, made possible the publication of thit
sauvenir rotogravure editian of The Progresst
KSON-ALSTROM CO. (General Contraciors)
1718 Textile Tawer, Seatte,
A. WEISSENBEORN DECORATING CO. (Painting
and Decorating)
318 Weselake North, Sestle,
CRANE CO. (Plumbing Fixtrres)
' 413 Secand Avenur South,
POWER PLANT ENGINEERING CO. (Ol Burner)
1833 Fifth Avenve, Seatgle.
A. WESPECHER (Chapel Pews)
612 Narth 34th Streer, Seatelr.
NORDQUIST & NELSON (Cabinet Work)
120 West Nickersan Sireet.
PUGET SOUND POWER & LIGHT CO.
STEWART LUMBER & HARDWARE CO, (Lumber)
1761 Rainier Avenue
GEIJSBEEK ROOF TILE CO. (Roof Tile,
401 Arssic Building, Seatcle. -
PACIFIC STONE CO. (Cast Stose)
4237 Eighth Avanue N, W, Scattle.
CASCADE FIXTURE CO. (Electric Fixtures)
Fairview North at Thamay Street, Seavtle.
NePAGE-McKENNY CO, (Electric Wiring)
804 Sixch Avenue South, Seattle,
GREENE-WINKLER HOTEL SUPPLY CO. (China
and Silver)
2126 Firit Avenue, Seauile.
RYAN FURNITURE CO, (Furwiture)

R RYAN FURNITURE CO.

3800 Ninh Aveaus South, Searele. (NOW IN THEIR NEW LOCATION)
‘WALTER CLAYBERG (Plastering) 1215 SECOND AVENUE
1l it West, Seaetle.
RODGERS TILE CO. (Flosr Tilc)
7 Yale Nocth, Seatsle

im this bright and spacious hitchen six Little Sisters of St, Joreph from Montreal will
spend their days in bappy service preparing appetizing meals for bealthy growing
boys. The Sisters are members of the order which presides over the culinary depart-
ment of the Grand Seminary in Montreal, The kitchen was cquipped by the Dobr-
mann Hotel Supply Co.

A glimpre of the bot water beating plant. The
oil burmer was installed by the Power Plant
Engineering Co,

FREDERICK A. RYAN JOSEPH H. RYAN

Furnished Saint Edward’s Seminary

Photo by Mcdride Studle

Marble shower rooms invite the seminarians after the atbletic
games of their recrention periods. The shower room and lava-
tory fistures were supplied by the Crane Co.

[ A

-

v SN e
L WashingTon Eteer TaTIoN-Rock IsLanp DeverLorme

50 5570 .‘,Eligg“"_j? =2 Corparzijen ., Bldrs.

THE ROCK ISLAND POWER PROJECT OF THE PUGET SOUND POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

The plant swbich is located ow the Calumbia River thirteen miles down from Wenatchee will bave an ultimate capacity of 252,000 borse-power and will supply power to Western awd Central Washingtow. The initial installation
of 84,000 horse-power is sebeduled for completion August I, 1932. Light and power for St. Edward’s Seminary supplied by the Puget Sound Power & Light Company.
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CHRONOLOGY OF DEVELOPMENT AND USE . L'L(’vw
MHJI,M"J' ;
HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT _ &% * ’Q’U.

Saint Edward Seminary’s d ‘i;elopmcnt began in 1917, with an agreefnent among the bishops of the
Province of Oregon City {Oregon, Washington, Idaho and Montana) to establish a seminary to educate
patish priests. Bishop O'Dea, head of the largest and wealthiest diocese, took the lead in raising the
money and searching for an approptiate site. In 1926 he located the 366-acre lakefront property then
known as “Deer Park” and purchased it with his own funds from an inheritance, for a reported cost of
$81,000. In 1929 he formally invited the Sulpician Fathers to send a priest to promote the seminary and

" raise public interest in it. By the following year, enough interest had been aroused, and enough money

raised, to begin planning for construction.

- Records show that architect John Graham began as early as 1928 to sketch a very large facility that

would eventually be expanded to meet the region’s perceived needs. Several design iterations through
1930 illustrate the evolution of the existing plan. A formal two-stoty chapel was planned at the south
end, with a large study hall and a commons room with a stage and seating. However, by the time
construction began, the Depression was underway and the plans were cut back significantly. The grand

chapel was never built, leaving the chapel in a modest study hall.

The cornerstone for the new building was laid on October 13, 1930, at a ceremony attended by the

Papal representative to the United States. The construction contract was let to a Seattle firm,
Henrikson-Alstrom Company, in eatly February 1931, with construction beginning in late February.

The wotk was completed in less thagSeven months, with the building ready for occupancy on
September 15. The formal dedication was held on October 13, 1931, exactly(Ghe year fyom the laying of
the cornerstone. The ceremony wasﬁna ot commumty event, attended by more than 5,000 officials,

clergy and members of the public.

Fore <wawors
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The Sulpician Fathers opetated the seminary, serving as both faculty and administrators. The Society of
St. Sulpice has dedicated itself to the education of diocesan priests since its founding in Patis in 1641.
The order trains priests, not for its own work, but to serve in parishes of the participating dioceses.
They founded the first seminary in the United States, St. Mary’s in Baltimore, in 1791, and the primary
western seminary, St. Patrick’s (1898) in San Mateo, California.

Also important to the school’s operations were the Little Sisters of Saint Joseph from Montreal, who
operated the kitchen and laundry. They lived a sequestered life on the second floor of the east wing, with
little contact with the priests or students. Outside the east wing they maintained the “Nuns’ Garden”
for their own tecteation and contemplation. Janitorial services and other maintenance tasks wete
provided by male service staff, who had separate quarters at the south end of the ground floot.

AT {arPTts Te (eRTona e {r. 7?
Classes began in September 1931, with a faculty of six priests and 51 students from Washington,
Oregon, Idaho and British Columbia. The school was planned to have a minor seminary, providing a
six-year high school and junior college education; the seminary college or major seminary, with a four-
year course of philosophy and theology; and the graduate school or theologate. The first class of 12
young men graduated from the Minor Seminary with juniot college diplomas in June 1935. That fall the
Major Seminary opened, with college-level classes in philosophy and theology.

In 1939, eight yeats after the school’s opening, the first 12 graduates were ordained as priests, in the
dioceses of Seattle, Spokane, Portland, Helena and Alaska. However, these students had not entered as
freshman in 1931; they had come to St. Edward for the final three or four years of theology, after study
at St; Patrick’s or other seminaries and colleges. The following year, ten people were ordained, most
having previously attended St. Benedict’s Seminary in Mount Angel, Oregon, or Midwestern institutions,



o Cksar wopee THRE ST ACTiwF7Er CC<gT8w S

DRAFT September 28, 2007

Prvore AT

- il LA 400

Over the following decades, the seminary became an important part of the life of the diocese and of the
Fastside community. Particularly notable wete the annual “May Day” celebrations initiated by Bishop
Gerald Shaughnessy in 1935 to honor the Virgin Mary. As many as 7,000 people from throughout the
diocese attended this ceremony at the end of each May. These events had a sccondary purpose for the
seminaty, as visitors had the rare opportunity to meet with students and faculty and to tout the building.

In 1939-40, students published a magazine, “The Harvester,” which gives an overview of school life.
Much of it was similar to othet residential schools, with the year starting off with a lakeside bonfire and
weenic roast. Programs wete held frequently, usually in the ground-floor Recreation Room or perhaps
the Refectory (dining room). Regular activities included a glee club and amateur theatricals; at the
beginning these were generally teligious in nature, but in later years included “Oliver” and “Brigadoon.”
Some guest presentations were pure entertainment, such as magic shows, travelogs by visiting ptiests or
home movies taken at the seminary. Other speakers came to broaden the students’ education, with
detailed discussions of att histoty, church architecture, or missionary activities in various countries.
Students also learned about the practical side of being a priest, such as building a parish church or
administering patish finances. In 1939-40, a crucial time in European history, there was a concerted
effort to bting the outside world to the seminary. Speakers included a refugee priest from Germany, a
Japanese editor and socialist Dotothy Day of the “The Catholic Worker.” Students and faculty gathered
around the radio in the recteation room to listen to Papal addresses (there was great relief when a
speaker system was installed). On October 16, 1940, all students registered for the draft.

As with most young men, spotts were a major patt of student life, with baseball, softball, track, tennis,
handball and swimming in the lake. Students were sequestered on campus most of the time, but holiday
weekends featured boat ttips, a university football game or skiing at Snoqualmic Pass. They went home
for holidays and summer vacations, when they worked on family farms or other jobs, traveled around
the country ot helped in local patishes.

Over time the large building and its grounds were developed to meet the needs of students. In the early
years the students were actively involved in developing the property, often assisted by lay Catholic
organizations and local laborets. The St. Vincent de Paul Society arranged for unemployed men to help
with landscape maintenance. The building contractors had not completed construction of the baseball
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diamond and football field or trails to the lake, so students completed these in 1931-32. In 1937 Father
Adolph Badran designed and coordinated the construction of the rock grotto and a log cabin. A bath
house, bulkhead and pier with a diving board were built on the beach, all heavily used in warm weather.
Trrail construction and forest thinning continued, and in 1939 a speaker from the U. 8. Forest Setvice
provided guidance on how to do the thinning propetly. An orchard was planted and the school 4-H
Club cleared land to plant prize-winning vegetable and flower gardens to serve the seminary’s needs. By
the late 1960s the 366 acres of lakeshore and forest included open lawns, extensive recreational facilities
and trails, and areas for small religious ceremonies and contemplation. A gymnasium/ auditotium was
added in 1951, and an Olympic-sized swimming pool in its own building was built in 1968.

ot
By the 1950s the diocese had 183,000 Catholics and seminaty enrollment had increased sufficiently to
strain the limits of the large building. Rather than expanding the facility, as had originally been intended,
Archbishop Thomas Connolly chose instead to build a second seminary, St. Thomas the Apostle, on the
same large propetty, a third of a mile to the south. When this building opened in 1958, St. Edward
became a minor seminaty only, providing high school and junior college-level studies.

After 1968 St. Edward’s functioned only as a high school. By this time the school realized that, because
of the young age at which boys entered the school, many would change direction and pursue careers
other than the priesthood. They accordingly took care to provide a general education that would serve

WL}tud_egts_j%]jﬂc of wor@ et fuwrwel <

(2 However, mod Catholic high schools were being puilt elsewhere in the refion, and there was an

increasing preference for a non-sequestered educéz Enrollment continued to
decline. By 1971, despite the growing number of Catholics (334,000), there were only 95 students, down
from 150 a few years before. St. Edwa_@closed in 1976 and the buildings and most of the propetty
(exclusive of St. Thomas Seminary) was sold to the State of Washington in 1977,

Puoto  cpans
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THE ARCHITECT: JOHN GRAHAM, SR.

To design such an important building, Bishop ODea hired a highly accomplished architect. By the
1930s John Graham (1873-1955) was one of the city’s most prominent architects, with wide experience
in a wide variety of styles and building types. Because of his extensive experience in the design of large
buildings, including both schools and residential facilities, he was a logical choice for the St. Edward’s
commission. His facility with a variety of styles is shown in his adept use of the traditional Romanesque
form and stylistic elements that were very suitable for this religious use.

Graham had apprenticed as an architect in his native England and moved to Seattle in 1901. One of his
first projects was the re-design and expansion of Trinity Episcopal Church, following a fire in 1901,
During a partnership with David Myers (from 1905 until 1910), he specialized in residential work,

designing several significant residences, the Algonquin Apartments (now the Helen V, 1907) and the
large Kenney Presbyterian Home.

In 1910 he opened his own practice and embarked on the work for which he would become best
known, large commercial and industrial buildings. The first of these was the Joshua Green Building
(1913), onc of the city’s earliest large steel-frame buildings. The same year he designed the local
assembly plant for Ford Motor Company, which led to further work for the Ford Motor Company
elsewhere in the country. Other notable works of this period were the Frederick & Nelson department
store (now Nordstrom, 1916-19), the Dexter-Horton Building (1921-24) and four buildings at the
University of Washington. He did not abandon residential projects, as he designed the Victoria
Apartments (1921), one of the largest and most prominently sited apartments of the time. By the late
1920s his work became more modern in style, including some of the region’s most important Att Deco
buildings such as the Bon Marché (now Macy’s, 1928-29), the Exchange Building (1929-31) and
participation in the design of the U. S. Marine Hospital (now Amazon.com, 1931-34).

17
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CHRONOLOGY OF DEVELOPMENT

1920’s: Land for the Seminary is purchased by Bishop Edward J. O'Dea.
1928: The Architect, John Graham, produces at least one eatly scheme for the building.

-June-August, 1930: Three additional schemes were produced by John Graham. The last of these
schemes is the basis for the final design.

October 13, 1930: Date on which the cotrnerstone is laid.
January 7, 1930: Date of final Construction Documents.
September 15, 1931: Date of first occupancy by students.

October 13, 1931: Date of formal dedication cetemony.

@ Chapel is moved to Study Hall.

1973: The Seminary completes a series of fire safety alterations including: installation of rated enclosures,
consisting of sheetrock partitions and rated doots, at the two stairwells; teplacement ot infill of doors to
complete the new rated enclosures; relocation of light fixtures at new enclosures. Removal of two
basement windows and sills and replacement with two new basement exits and associated areaways;
installation of dry stand pipes in stairwells; installation of new of fire alatm stations, horns and detectors;
installation of magnetic door holders and exit signs. New exterior metal doots ate installed, replacing the
original oak paneled doors. -

Circa 1978: The ground floot restroom, designed to accommodate men only, is remodeled. The work
separates the restroom into two rooms creating one for each gender. New fixtures and finishes are
limited to the new partitions required for separation. The remainder of the bathroom is unchanged by
this work. At the same time, the adjacent shower room has a privacy pattition added.

1978: 'The second floor of the East Wing, the Sisters’ quarters, is converted into the Park Rangers
Residence. The Sisters” Community Room is the new living room. One bedroom is defined as the
Dining Room and its doorway enlarged for a more open relationship with the adjacent corridor. A
partition dividing two bedrooms is removed to accommeodate a Kitchen. Installation of new cabinets
and counters complete this work. The Sisters’ Toilet is divided into a hall bath and master bath. The
door between the Sacristy and Sister’s Chapel is in-filled. A newly constructed closet completes the
renovation of the Chapel into the Master Bedroom. Finally, two additional partitions are removed,
converting four bedrooms into two. The result of this wotk is a three bedtoom tesidence.

Three other areas of the building are also converted into residences.

1979: A drawing is completed for the addition of a wood fire escape from the Dining Room. The work
is not executed. ‘

1979: A new steel fire escape is constructed on the South end of the building, It provides a second

means of egress from the Second and Third Floors at the South end of the building. The new structute
impacts the original building fabric in the following ways: two windows and associated sills are temoved
and rebuilt to accommodate new egress doors; all other adjacent windows are re-glazed with wite glass.

12
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This work also included removal of the historic arch top steel sash terminating the first floor
Ambulatory. The window is replaced with a new steel frame and rated door with a side lite and transom.
A new exterior steel stair and landing completes the exit path.

A drawing for a similar fire escape at the North end of the building is completed. This work is not
executed. ‘

1981: A Facility Study is completed.
1981: A drawing, of this date, documents existing site utilities. It does not appear that any work is done.

1984: The complete boiler and heating system is renovated. A new steam to hot watet converter is
installed. Steam and condensate lines ate typically replaced with copper hot water supply and return.

1985: Several windows throughout the building are re-glazed.

1985: Drawings, of this date, indicate new 3-ply built up roofing over all existing flat roofs. This wotk
does not appear to have been completed. Drawings also indicate replacement of misc. broken roof tiles
using masonry tics hooked over the bottom edge of the tile. This work is probably completed as repairs
of the type ate visible on the roof today.

1989: A new transformer is provided by Puget Power. New panels are installed throughout the seminary
building.

1999: A Condition Survey is compiled.

2003: Work to repair damage caused by the 2001 Nisqually Earthquake is completed. The wozk includes;
rebuilding the tower chimney and associated roof repair/replacement, repait to one boilet, repair to
small areas of damaged exterior brick veneer, plaster repair and associated paint on the first floor from

the main entty extending south. This work may have included repair or replacement of two cast stone
tracery panels in the bell tower.

An inspection for lead and asbestos containing materials is petformed prior to this wotk.

13
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ADMINISTRATIVE HISTORY

St. Edward Seminary, and 367 acres of surrounding land, was originally constructed and owned by the
Corporation of the Catholic Bishop of Seattle. In 1958 its capacity was supplemented by the
construction of the adjacent St. Thomas the Apostle Seminary, also owned by the Corporation of the
Archbishop (the diocese was elevated to an archdiocese in 1951). Operation and management of both
institutions was entrusted to the Order of Saint Sulpice, specialists in seminary education. In 1976 the
Atrchbishop closed St. Edward’s due to declining enrollment. The following year, 1977, the buildings
and 316 acres (exclusive of St. Thomas Seminary and its grounds) were sold to the State of Washington.

In June 1978 the 316-acre property became a state park, operated by the Washington State Department
of Parks and Recreation. A resident manager and assistant manager oversee the park operations; both
live in apartments in the seminary building. The only other regular use of the main building since that
time was from 1978 to 1980 when it was used as living quattets for the Young Adult Conservation
Cortps. At somaeunknown date, patts of the ground and first floors were used for a Wild Bird Treatment
Center. Occasional uges also occur, as the facilities ate used for film sets and the dining room and

Lkitchen atre rented fof weddings and other special events.
Flets? 247

The seminary building and the 316-acre park were listed in the National Register of Historic Places on
March 8, 2007. It was listed in the Washington Historical Register previously.

Plsie Cllamr
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* PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE EXISTING BUILDING

BUILDING EXTERIOR

anl Oto  CBam g

Original Architecture :

St. Edwag s)Seminaty is designed in Late Romanesque Revival style by Architect John Graham, The
predomindnt massing is linear with the long axis extending North/South. It is largely a four story
building with two story high wings to the North and East and a six story tower marking the main entty.
The primary entrance is on the West Fagade, facing toward Lake Washington. The Architect designed a
carefully controlled arrival experience leading the visitor, in there car, around the building, fully or
partially obscuting the view until they reached a dramatic idealized view of this entrance. The entrance
itself is a single story, addressing the scale of the individual, flanked by the central four story gable
indicating the scale of the institution and ascending to the tower, reaching toward the heavens.

15
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An additional entrance into the main lobby is on the East Fagade, adjacent to the East Wing. Two

additional entrances setve the North Stait, matked by a second smaller East/West facing gable,

7
) ) e v ! U ’ _oukAa A Conlce gﬂ_\.‘&
The four story structure and tower roofs are pitched with curved clay tile roofs. The file is a mix of '

colors ranging from brighter reds and deep yellow toward the peak graduating, randomly, to darker reds
and browns toward the gutters. Cast stone coping terminates the roof at all gable ends. Formed copper
gutters bring roof water to a seties of interior leaders, eliminating vertical breaks on the fagade. The two
stoty East wing also has a pitched tile roof with the same charactetistics as the main roof. The roof of
the two stoty North Wing, a terrace section of the East Wing and all single story entry structures are flat
with built up roofing materials contained within parapet walls,

The exterior walls are constructed of cast concrete and faced with cast stone and variegated tapestry
brick, in a mix of buffs and browns. The ground and first floors use alternating bands of the cast stone
and brick to achieve a flattened rustification. The implied mass of the base is further emphasized by
buttress like piers terminating in splayed and decorative cast stone caps. The first floor has
predominantly large semi-circular arched top windows with steel sash allowing the window to read as a
deep recess in strong load bearing masonry — their repetitive use helps defines the Romanesque style.
Second through fourth floot windows, ate typically flat toped with a solder brick header. The windows
at these levels are generally wood. The upper floors are faced mostly in brick with cast stone belt courses
at the window sills. All walls terminate at the roof with decorative cast stone or brick corbels. Entry
doors have decorative cast stone surrounds, often inset with patterns of brick headers. Facades above
entries, at the tower and at the main central gable have additional cast stone decoration, emphasizing the
vettical, to identify significance. Cast iton is used for ornamental grills and belfty railings. Leaded glass is
used in limited windows at and around entrances. Ecclesiastical ornamentation consists of copper
ctosses with applied gold leaf and statuary designed for niches and pedestals at entrances.
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Major Changes

In 1973 two new egress routes were created from the basement. This work included removal of two

historic windows and their associated sills. Tt also required the construction of two areaways with stairs

leading up to grade. One new cgress is located on the West Elevation adjacent to the Recreation Room.

The othet is on the East elevation near the South end of the building, All of the historic Mahogany

paneled doors were removed and replaced with metal fire rated doors. The original wood doots are

stotred in the basement. LT B TSR T v

In 1979 a three story fire escape was added to the South Elevaton and the adjacent first floor window,
at the end of the Ambulatory was extended to accommodate a new egress. The new egress retains the
steel window sash, as a transom, from the arch spting point. The new lower infill below is steel frame
with a side light, transom and rated steel door. A metal fire escape stair serves the new egress.

: yﬂﬁ) The chimney, at the level of the bell tower, was rebuilt aftet it sustained damage from the Nisqually
earthquake. The chimney was disassembled, reinforced, attached to the bell tower and lined to meet
current codes. 80 petcent of the bricks were salvaged and re-used. The bottom or base has new brick,

but it is not visible from the ground.
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STRUCTURAL & SEISMIC SYSTEMS

See attached report

ROOF AND SITE WATER SYSTEMS

Overview :
Many portions of the site abutting the building perimeter are graded so that site generated rainfall flows
toward the building. Water collects along the face of building and then either makes its way into the soil
and/or makes its way into the building through cracks in the basement wall as subsutface flow.

Water appears to be migrating into the building via three paths: the roof runoff collection system,
surface runoff and subsurface flow.

23

!

:

Original Systems PHew canot

Rainfall that lands on the building’s toof is collected in numerous roof dtains, all of which lead to rain
leaders that are internal to the building. Fach rain leader runs vertically within the building (many for
numerous floors) until it turns 90- degrees to run laterally and either connects to a plumbing line or exits
the building, Plumbing lines run both within ceiling spaces and under slabs-on-grade. According to
record drawings, all roof drains are connected to rain leaders and plumbing lines that direct collected
rainfall out of the building. This is contrary to anecdotal accounts duting the site/building

-
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reconnaissance tour thar suggested roof munoff was tied into the sump located in the Fan Room
(referred to as a “cistern” during site tour.)

All plumbi_ﬁg lines ultimately combine together into a single, 6-inch building storm water discharge line
at the west side of the building in the vicinity of the radial wall at the Priests” Common Room. Record
drawings state that the flow line of this pipe is at elevation 330 (approximately 5” below grade.)

The record drawings are unclear as to the ultimate discharge point of this line. A note on the Plot Plan
states, “contractor shall allow 300 linear feet of 6 sewer tile from building line to termination point of
rain conductor line with an average coverage of 6°-0” termination point shall be as directed on site.”

The Plot Plan sketch suggests that the rain collection line was to run parallel to the building’s single
sanitary sewage discharge line and simply outfall down the hillside in the vicinity of the curtent trail-head
west of the building. The sanitary sewer line, however, was to terminate at the septic tank which is still
visible at the top of the ravine today. The two systems wete documented as separate with no
connection.
Major Changes e g e ANRUPTAY fecovats T

Anecdotal accounts during thie site/building tour indicated that the sanitary sewage no longer flows west
to the septic tank but instei{d'l is directed to the municipal sewet main system to the east of the building.
This was confirmed by teview of record drawings. Itwas also indicated that the roof rain collection line
is now connected to the old septic tank, It is theorized that the manhole which is evident at the trail-
head was placed on the original rain collection pipe’s outlet and an additional piece of pipe was installed
to connect the rain collection system to the septic tank. It is further theorized that this was done to
“manage” what would otherwise have been an uncontrolled concentrated flow which was likely eroding
the hillside. The abandoned septic tank is functioning as a combined detention tank and energy
dissipater that holds runoff that is directed to it prior to its discharge to the ravine. No record drawings

of this work were found. )
/C/ AT Lf (W€ pZelever cpen (e

LIFE-SAFETY SYSTEMS

Original Systems

The building was designed with three main stairs, one central, one serving the South Wing and one
serving the East Wing. A fourth half flight linked the Second Floor of the East Wing; about four feet
lower than the second floor of the main building, to the Central Stair. The North Wing was not designed

with a second means of egress.

The stairs were designed prior to adoption of modern codes requiring enclosure in rated construction
and were all open to adjacent cortidors. The placement of the South Stair, at the Second and Third
floors, results in a dead end corridor. Materials in and enclosing stairs are almost eatirely non-
combustible, wood hand rails, doors and some wood windows are the only exception. Lit exit signage
was provided. A fire alarm system was installed.

Putsl LO LA Tlom < Lopadt
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Major Changes

The Seminary completed a series of fire safety alterations in 1973 including: installation of rated
enclosures, consisting of sheetrock partitions and rated doors, at the two stairwells; replacement or infill
of doors to complete the new rated enclosures; relocation of light fixtures at new enclosures. removal of
two basement windows and sills and replacement with two new basement exits and associated ateaways;
installation of dry stand pipes in stairwells; installation of new of fire alarm stations, hotns and detectors;
installation of magnetic door holders and exit signs. New exterior metal rated doots were installed,
replacing the original oak paneled doors.

A new steel fire escape was constructed on the South end of the building in 1979. It provided a second
means of egress from the Second and Third Floors at the South end of the building. The new structure
impacts the original building fabric in the following ways: two windows and associated sills were
removed and tebuilt to accommodate new egress doors; all other adjacent windows, arc re-glazed with
wire glass,

This work also included removal of the historic arch top steel sash tetminating the Fitst Floot

Ambulatory. The window was replaced with a new steel frame and rated door with a side lite and
transom. A new exterior steel stair and landing completed the exit path at this location.

MECHANICAL ELECTRICAL AND PLUMBING SYSTEMS

Overview

The sources of the following information are review of the otiginal consttuction documents, a building
condition survey prepared in 1999 by Johnson Architecture & Planning, the Ownet’s description of the
building and field observation. The 1999 Johnson building condition survey included a report by
Affiliated Engineers, Inc. covering mechanical, electrical and plumbing. 1t is not an exhaustive analysis.

Original Systems:

Mechanical: The original heating system consists of two natural-gas-to-steam boilers connected to
convectors throughout the building. The original system supplied steam with a condensate return.
Additional ventilation is provided in the Study Hall via exterior cast iron gtills. The fresh ait is heated in
unit heaters adjacent to the grills. Additional ventilation is also provided in classtooms at the Basement
and First Floor levels. This air is “washed” heated and supplied through the fan room in the sub-
basement. The remaining building ventilation is passive — employing operable windows, transoms and
doot undetcuts.

Electrical: The original electrical supply originates with transformers furnished by the power company,
located in a shed vault between the North and East Wings, The main switchboard is in the Boiler room
and a sub switchboard above the fan room. From there power is distributed to panels located in the
center of the building, Fast and South Wings. Electrical systems power lights, exit signage, fire alarms,
mechanical ventilation and other systems and kitchen equipment.

Plumbing: A 4 domestic water supply enters on the South Side of the East Wing. It provides water for
all plumbing fixtures throughout the building and for make —up water to the boilers. The original 1 %4
gas supply entered the building below the East Entry. Gas prowded fuel for the boilers, domestic hot
water and kitchen appliances.

20
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Major Changes:

The complete boiler and heat system was tenovated in 1984, A new steam to hot water converter was
installed. Steam and condensate lines were typically replaced with copper hot water supply and return.
Ongoing maintenance has also been performed, but this is the oaly record of major work.

Some electrical modification was performed to accommodate egress changes in 1976. A new
transformer was provided by Puget Power in 1989. New panels were installed throughout the seminary

building at this time. No other electrical changes are recorded.

Several plumbing fixtures throughout the building have been discontinued and temoved.
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INTERIOR SPACES

Most spaces in the seminary fall into one of five categories: public, academic, residential, recreational
and service areas. ‘ ‘

Public spaces: : .
The more public spaces, which form the cote of the building, include the Entry Lobby, Vestibule, Stair

Hall, the vaulted cotridor or Ambulatory, the Dining Room/Refectory and the Priests’ Common Room, THowett

Patlor and ptivate Dining Room. While the facility was not normally open to the public, dignitaries and
family members of students would have been greeted and entertained in this area. Accordingly, they are
the most ornate spaces, featuring vaulted and beamed ceilings, round-arched windows and ornate light
fixtures. The following are public spaces:

o West Vestibule: This is the main
[ entry vestibule. It contains three
’ tisets with a terrazzo floor and inset
mat, The base is black marble. The
walls are plaster with textured paint
they contain a cast bronze tablet and
grills. The ceiling, at almost 137, is
vaulted plaster. The exterior doots
are square paneled mahogany with
four leaded glass lights. The interior
doors are mahogany with a single
arched top light with leaded glass.
Both doors have steel half round
transoms above,

Fote ciaroit

Lobby: The Lobby is a spare elegant interior volume. Posidoned directly below the towdr it has the
same footprint, about 20" square with high ceilings almost 14’ high. Large atched Openinés tonnect it to
adjacent corridors. The floor is rubber tile in a dark subtle checkerboard pattern. The walls are plaster,
finished with a textured paint. The base is black marble with a simple, tall cant finishing the top. The
ceiling is plaster with an ornamental plaster cornice. The Patlor and Porters rooms open off of the
lobby. Doorways to these rooms have simple wood trim at an inset jamb with a squate plaster edge —
furthering the spare aesthetic and reinforcing the depth and visual weight of the walls. A small extension
contains a stair with five risers leading down to the Fast vestibule. All the finishes in this extension
match the main lobby except for a transition to Terrazzo floor finish at the stair,

22
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East Vestibule: This vestibule maintains the
aesthetics of the other first floor public spaces but
contains no unique ornament.

Pluste Clepgus A LeeaTer

The Stair Hall, immediately North of the
Lobby: This space maintains the austere clegant
aesthetics of the Lobby. The floor is rubber tile in
a subtle checkerboard pattern, The walls are
plaster, finished with a textured paint. The base is
marble with a simple, tall cant finishing the top.
The ceiling, at 12, is plaster with an ornamental
plaster cornice. The stair is terrazzo with an
othamental iton balustrade capped with a
mahogany hand rail.
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‘The Dlnlng Room, N/ofth of the Stair Hall: The Dining Room, known as the refectory, is a large
room, about 80” x 30°/with concrete beams, decorative corbels and striking bronze chandeliers.
Architecturally, it is defined by its scale and regular rhythm of large steel arched top windows on three
sides. The floor and base is terrazzo, the walls plaster with a textured paint. A riser (still present,
although probably a replacement of the original) on the east side was the location of the priests’ tables.
A lectern (no longer there) on the west side was used for readings during meals. It is probable that this
room, as well as the recreation room below, was also used for theatrical presentations and other
activitie?i Qv LT

An original chilled water dispenser is located adjacent to the Kitchen door. The lectern, removed from
this room, may be located elsewhere in the building,

The original platform was desighed as follows: a 35’x12" platform constructed on the Fast Wall of the
Dining Room. It was 12” high with steps at the corners. The Platform was finished with a wood fascia,
wood flooting and a wood base along the wall.

Priests Common Room, off of the Stair Hall: This space is most notable for cohtaining the semi-
circular bay at the base of the main West Gable. Itis a nicely proportioned room with a ten foot ceiling,
Oak floot, Mahogany base, plaster walls with textured paint, plaster ceiling and cornice and a mahogany
picture molding, It has an adjacent single restroom.

Priests Dining Room, off of the Stair Hall: This space maintains the aesthetics and finishes in the
Priests Common Room, It lacks a unique feature to define it architecturally.

Parlot, off of the Lobby: This room maintains the aesthetics and finishes of the other first floor public
spaces. It lacks a unique feature to define it architecturally. This room is somewhat more notable for its
function. It was no doubt the main space in which Seminarians’ Parents engaged the institution. It has
an adjacent single rest room.
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The Ambulatory, immediately South of the Lobby: This long, cloister like corridor is defined by its
atched plaster ceiling, at it highest 14, and arcade of windows. The windows ate steel sash, with arched
tops and they extend down to the height of the marble base. The interior sill is finished with marble to
match the base. Fach window is deeply inset in its plaster opening and has an iron railing, The floor is
dark rubber tile in a subtle checkerboard pattern. The walls are plaster, finished with a textured paint.
The main impression of this corridor is the form of the space defined by the interplay between the
atched ceiling and window tops. It maintains the austere elegance of the other premier public spaces.
Lantetn like light fixtures suspended on chains extend the full length of the corridor along with an
original suspended clock. Drawings by the Architect indicate that this Corridor was anticipated to
terminate in a large Chapel - to be constructed at a future date,

Cidegs  Lowalita i Lot

25



DRAFT September 28, 2007

South Stait: This stair maintains the aesthetics of the othet First Floor public spaces but contains no
umnique ornament.

Typically, the Chapel would have been a public place as well, welcommg outsiders to religious
observances, ~HEsistrrunrealized plans indicate that a large chapel was to be built at the south end of the
main corridor, a fitting public space. Howevet, upon the opening of this building the chapel was located
in a large study hall towatd the south end of the main corridor, and the large chapel was never built.
Th%smaﬂ rooms wete constructed at the north end, behind the altar, to serve as sacristy and vestry

arcas,
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Academic spaces:
The academic spaces consist of a Library, a Study Hall, two Science Laboratories and four Classtooms.

Study Hall: The original Study Hall is at the North end of the Second Floor, above the Dining Room.
The finishes atre simple: the floor linoleum, the walls and ceiling painted plaster and the trim painted fir.
Its defining architectural features are its scale, repetitive paired arched stecl sash windows and the
original light fixtures.

The Chapel was moved from the first floor to this spac the 1950s, when the student body

became too large for the First Floor Chapel. It has a simptewooden reredos where the altar was, with
small roomns added behind it for use as a Sacristy. :

Pusys e s
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e

Library: The Library consists of two adjoining rooms with book shelves, in a:favored location in the
center of the second floor below the bell tower. The larger room was the primary student library, while
the smaller roon@have been reserved for priests and more advanced students.

The finishes are simple: the floor linoleum, the walls and ceiling painted plaster and the trim mahogany.
Tt simple mahogany shelves line the perimeter, except on exterior walls and continue, forming dead end
isles, into the middle of the room. The only additional ornament is a plaster niche for statuaty.

Chemistry & Physiés Lab, Biology Lab: The Chemistry/Physics and Biology Laboratoties were on
the Ground Floor. Each has three adjacent rooms, used for photography, lesson preparation and
storage. The finishes are utilitatian: linoleum floot, painted plaster walls and ceiling and painted fir trim,

The most significant feature of these spaces ate the built in chemistry tables, which contain a lot of
seminary era student graffiti.

Pueco A7 T

Classrooms, off the First Floor Ambulatory: All finishes are simple; linoleum floot, plaster walls,
plaster ceiling at 12’ and simple painted fir trim.
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Residential areas:
The largest amount of space was devoted to residential areas, of which there wete four types.

Priests’ Quarters: Priests had suites of rooms, featuring a Study with bookshelves, a small Bedroom
and a private Bathroom with a tiled shower. There were ten of these suites, located strategically at each
end of the residential floors, with two on the Second Floor, and four each on the Third and Fourth
Floors. The Second Floor also had two priest’s rooms without Studies.

+ The Priests’ Quarters are simple, but grand relative to all other residential areas. Each Study is finished
with an oak parquet floor and contains mahogany built-in bookshelves and mahogany trim. The
Bedrooms are finished with carpeted floors, painted fir trim and a Clothes Closet. The Bathrooms each
contain a showet, toilet and sink and are finished with hex tile floors, subway tile wainscot, wall hung

fixtures and metal medicine cabinets. -
L puiriree L
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Student Bedrooms and Common Bathrooms: Students lived in small Bedrooms, each with a single
window, a wash basin and a Closet with built-in drawers. These were originally intended to be private
rooms, with only one occupant, but when the school came to be more crowded, younger students
evidently slept in bunk beds. There are 113 rooms, located on the second, third and fourth floors.
Students on each floor shared a common Bathroom.

All student ateas ate plain in their ornament. Linoleum floors, painted plaster walls and ceilings and
painted fir trim are typical. The Toilet Rooms have terrazzo floors, subway tile wainscot, marble
partitions and wall hung fixtures. Bach common bath contained one shower stall

PHelr LuniTioutt € (st

30



DRAFT September 28, 2007

Sisters’ Quarters: The most specialized residential area was the “Nuns’ Quarters” ot Convent, a
sequestered area on the Second Floor of the East Wing, above the Kitchen. Here, the nuns who
managed the Kitchen bhad individual Bedrooms, a Community Room, a common Bathroom and a
private Chapel with Sacristy. A private stairway led down to their Parlor and Dining Room behind the

Kitchen.

All Sisters’ areas are plain in there ornament. Linoleum floors, painted plaster walls and ceilings and
painted fir trim are typical. The toilet tooms have terrazzo floors, Keene’s cement wainscot and
bathtubs, instead of showers typical of the male residences.
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Helps’ Quarters: Similar quatters at the South End of the Ground Floor housed male workers who
performed janitorial, mechanical and gardening tasks to maintain the facility. Their quarters included
small individual Bedtooms, a Living Room and a Bathroom. Their Dining Room was located at the
other end of the floor, below the Kitchen.

All Helps’ areas are plain in there ornament. Linoleum floors, painted plaster walls and ceilings and |
painted fir trim are typical.

Cuore Lottt Leppotr
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Recreational areas:

The least information is available about the Seminary’s recreational spaces. The designated Recreation
Room was below the Dining Hall. It contains the building’s only fireplace and early student accounts
indicate that it was used for student gatherings such as listening to radio programs, and ptobably for
student activities and presentations.

It is unclear whether there was indoor space for active recreation such as basketball. Student accounts
indicate that the original trunk storage room adjoining the recreation room was sometimes used for
basketball in early years. Reportedly, it was later used as a batbershop, which probably put the built-in
concrete bench to good use. From the beginning, much recreational activity was outside and extensive
sports facilities were added over time. In 1951 a Gymnasium/Auditotium was constructed and became
the primary focus of indoor sports and recreation. A significant aumber of activities and gatherings that
were once in the main building were probably moved to the new building.

A ity oo Gorei ] '

The recteation room is simple but contains some notable details. Walls are painted plaster and employ
the textured paint used on all other public spaces. The trim is mahogany. The otiginal floot was asphalt
tile. Because the ground floor is partially below grade the windows sills are relatively high and the toral
window area smaller than on upper floors. The ceiling height is lower than on upper floors, The room
has a cozy, rather than grand, feel despite the size of the footprint. It’s most notable feature is the
fireplace - the surround is cast stone set just proud of the plaster, The sides are detailed as quoins, with a
staggered edge. To either side, at the transition to the fire box, a cast stone imbedded column contains
geometric patterns on its shaft and.is Romanesque in proportion and ornament. The mantel is simple
flat panel with a peaked top bearing a Latin inscription, ECCE QUAM BONUM ET QUAM
IVCUNDUM HABITARE FRATRES IN UNVM - Behold how good and how fitting it is for brothers
to dwell as one,

PUoTd Lowfoud § cpioltd
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Service Areas:
Service areas include the Kitchen, the Laundry, the Boiler and Mechanical Rooms and Storage Spaces.

The primary service area is the Kitchen, which consists of several related rooms and spaces, and appears
to retain much of its original character with a significant amount of equipment dating from the seminary
period. The Kitchen wing is divided into serving and dishwashing areas (adjoining the dining room), a
central open space with a large range, counters and islands, a sink for pot washing and food preparation
equipment including kettles and steamers. To the rear are the Butcher Shop (with walk-in reftigerators
and freezers), the Bakery with ovens, and a receiving room and loading dock. A small Pantry with
dishware storage connects to the Priests’ Dining Room.

7
The Kitchen is large — it@o have been sized to serve even if the Seminary complex grew. It has a
terrazzo floor and base with integral cement bases (finished in terrazzo) for working and serving islands.
Continuous subway tile wainscot extends around the full perimeter with plaster walls and ceiling abowe.
The Kitchen is notable for its very intact arrangement of original cooking appliances. Original stoves
with a large hood anchor the center, Large steamer pots share the hood, A serving counter is located
adjacent to the dining room with a dish room to its North. Multiple refrigerated compartments, one
walk in sized, are arrayed to the North with prep counters adjacent. A separate Bakery and Butcher shop
are located to the East. Additional counters, sinks and equipment are installed along the South wall. In
all, the kitchen suite contains 8 refrigerated compartments and 51 separate pieces of equipment from a
vegetable pecler to fish chest. ‘

Plcre Coenrecu ¢ cpunid
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Below the Kitchen are the Laundry and the Boiler room, both of which retain much of their carly
character and equipment. They are surrounded by Storage and Mechanical areas, as shown in the
original plans,

The major Bathroom, Shower Room and Locker Room are located in the center of the Ground Floor.
Storage Rooms and Utility Closets are located throughout the building,

FLJ»O 2
Locatm
! Chwmir

These spaces have typical institutional finishes of the period: The Toilets contain terrazzo floors, marble
wainscot, marble partitions with wood doors and wall hung fixtures; the Locker Room has a terrazzo
floot and base with integral terrazzo bases for the lockers; the Shower Room contains 13 stalls in a
common space with tetrazzo flooz, tiled stalls and an arched cement plaster ceiling to accommodate
ventilation.

A Porter Room, Treasurers Office and Store are located adjacent to the Lobby. These auxiliary areas do
not have impottant architectural features, They are simply finished with linoleum floot, plaster walls,
plaster ceilings and simple mahogany trim.

The remaining spaces are Utlity and Storage Spaces. All are unfinished, with the exception of the

Laundty Room which has cement plaster. The laundry contains original washing equipment including
drying racks. '
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Major Changes:

The temporary Chapel, on the first floot, was outgrown as the student body increased. The Sacristy, dais
and railing were removed and the space converted to a large Classroom or Study Hall space. Instead of
building the grand Chapel originally envisioned, the Chapel was moved to the Study Hall on the Second
Floot. A new Sactisty and dais were consttucted in the Study Hall.

The Recreation Room in the basement also had a Sactisty and Dais constructed, this space appatently
funcdoned as a Chapel at some point as well. Behind the Sacristy are four small rooms@

confession or reflection.

The Seminary completed a series of fire safety alterations in 1973, This work included: installation of
rated enclosures, consisting of sheetrock partitions and rated doors, at the two stairwells; replacement ot
infill of dooss to complete the new rated enclosures; relocation of light fixtures at new enclosutes;
removal of two basement windows and sills and replacement with two new basement exits and
associates areaways; installation of dry stand pipes in stairwells; installation of new of fire alarm stations,
horns and detectors; installation of magnetic door holders and exit signs.

Light fixtures were replaced throughout the classrooms and in various other spaces.

The ground floor restroom, designed to accommodate men only, was remodeled in 1978, The work
separates the restroom into two rooms creating one for each gender. New fixtures and finishes are
limited to the new partitions required for separation. The remainder of the bathroom was unchanged by
this work. At the same time, the adjacent shower room had a privacy partition added.

The second floor of the East Wing, the Sisters’ quarters, was converted into the Park Rangers Residence
in 1978. The Sisters’ Community Room is the present Living Room. One Bedroom is the Dining Room
and its doorway is enlarged for a more open relationship with the adjacent corridor. A pattition dividing
two Bedtooms was removed to accommodate a Kitchen. Installation of new cabinets and counters
completed this work. The Sisters’ Toilet was divided into a Hall Bath and Master Bath. The door
between the Sacristy and Sister’s Chapel is in-filled. A newly constructed closet completes the renovation
of the Chapel into the Master Bedroom. Finally, two additional partitions were removed, converting four
Bedrooms into two. The result of this work is a three bedroom residence.

Three other residences were created in the building. Two are located at the extreme South end of the
South wing. The other is located in the center of the building on the third floar,

Some Library shelves have been removed

Asbestos floor tile was removed throughout the basement due to ashestos content.
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INTERIOR FEATURES

Stair and metal railings:

The building contains three stairs, the main stair and two secondary stairs. The Secondary stairs are plain
in finish and detail; both are terrazzo floors with plaster walls, ceilings and railings. Simple wood
handrails are attached to the walls. The main stair, however, is notable for its location in the building,
decorative plaster moldings and corbels on the first floor, layout and ornamental iron railing,

This Main Stair, within the Stair Hall, is on the primary public axis that starts at the Dining Hall, extends
through the Lobby and arched corridor and ends at the proposed location of the un-built Chapel. The
stair is immediately between the Lobby and Dining Hall, '

The level of detail and finish are consistent with the important adjacent spaces. At the First Floor, the
Stair Hall defined by a decorative arch at the ceiling supported on plaster corbels. The arch and corbels
do not cover any structure they are simply design elements. Beyond the arch, all changes in ceiling plane
have large plaster coves to visually ease the transitions and reinforce the Romanesque impression of a
load beating masonty structure, The stait treads, risers and base are terrazzo. The terrazzo also forms the
stringer with a plaster fascia below.

Priere (oot « copwnar
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One of the most notable features is the layout. The stair is wrapped around an open well, about 5%2x8’,
extending from the first to fourth floor. The visual effect of the dark terrazzo stair, offset by the buff
plaster, rising up through this well is strong, The picture is completed by the decotative iton railing
capped with a mahogany handrail. One cutrved iron bracket per section of railing ads structure and visual
depth. Overall this stait’s details reinforce the visual themes of the building: A mix of Romanesque and
Deco influence with a spate elegance. -

Plaster arches, cornice, corbels and jamb returns — public spaces:

Plaster detailing, in public spaces, is consistently used to reinforce the Romanesque impression of being
a load bearing masonry structure. Intersecting arches where window arches meet the continuous vault of
the corridor, in the First Floor; create beautiful architectural form, give the exterior wall a greater sense
of depth and reference European Monastic Buildings. Trim at door and window jambs, within the public
spaces, is consistently inset within a plaster jamb. The transition between the face of plaster wall and the
plaster jamb is detailed with a hidden metal corner bead allowing for a vety tight seamless edge. 'The
wood trim at jambs is simple in profile and its projection into the opening minimal, All of these detailing
choices teinforce the weight and substance of the walls and reflect the more precise and finet detailing
of the Deco period. Plaster cornices and corbels are used to define the important public spaces. The
iconography of their ornament, howevet, does r@ have specific significance. ‘

Pluure CourTruer £ i amirr
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Window types and trim differences:

St. Edwards employs two types of windows, steel and wood. They are deployed consistently to define
institutional spaces (steel) and residential spaces (Wood) In the institutional areas of the building, public
spaces and classrooms, they also further the system of decorative detail, strong monolithic structure.
offset by delicate wood and metal accent. In the residential spaces the decotative vocabulary shifts closer
to typical home construction of this petiod. The shift in windows is accompanied by a shift in door trim
to a face mounted casing.

Doots, trim and built-ins:

Mahogany is used extensively at St. Edwards. A WOOd shop was constructed to the East of the building
and all the mahogany trim was produced on site from raw materials. The rich depth of the wood is a
wonderful counterpoint to the serene plaster walls. Most doors and transoms in the building are
mahogany. The wood was also used for jambs, casings, plinths, picture rails and base. A few variations
exist: the original exterior doors were oak; the trim in Classrooms, Kitchen, and Helps Quatters were

- typically painted fir; and, where fire safety (in 1930) dictated, Kalamein doots (a type of metal clad eatly

fire doot). evmmree 7

The entry doorts to all dorm rooms are mahogany with two pancls. The upper panel is obscure glass,
with the room number painted on it, Each dorm room contains a built in wardrobe with a2 mahogany
two panel door enclosing the hanging area and two drawers. Both the entty door and wardrobe have
transoms above. The transoms are both mahogany, with no inset panel. The transom above the
wardrobe encloses a shelf, All mahogany doors are constructed from 1/8” veneer wrapped around a
solid mahogany cote to increase their stability. Throughout the building other doors maintain the two
panel division.

All library shelving is mahogany with a very simple design. The shelves extend to the same height as the
door and are finished with a small crown molding, The shelves are adjustable, Each Priest’s Suite
contains a study with built-in shelves. These simple shelves terminate at walls with a stile with a
chamfered detail with a Deco character.,

A few specific areas commanded more ornate design with mahogany. In the West Entty Vestibule the
lintel between the door head and transom is carved with tracery. An ornamental lectern was designed
and built for the Dining Room. Tt was used for oratories and readings at meals. The first chapel location,
in spite of being temporary, had a raised dais with a decorative wood rail and

BoTys ats CouCre pranstoer—
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Bronze light fixtures, grills & clocks:
The light f{ixtures throughout the building were bronze with glass globes. In spaces of more importance
they wetre fairly simple but still beautiful and decorative.

i

The Dining Room Stait Hall & Lobby West Vestibule

Bronze grills, at floor level and head level, provide air conduction for concealed radiatots in both the
West Entry Vestibule & Ambulatoty. The West Entry Vestibule also contains a decorative cast bronze
tablet.

Bronze clocks throughout the building are linked to a master clock system.

Pt Corwmerr (

40



DRAFT September 28, 2007

Blackboards:

Most classrooms contain original blackboards. Their design is represented in the original drawings. They
are divided with a horizontal trim, slate below and cork above, with a tall wood trim between the slate
and chalk ledge.

Leaded glass:
Leaded glass is employed in selected locations of significance. It is used for vestibule doors in the Lobby
area and for the Chapel doors in the Sisters’ quarters,

S intce Gewss T (o Toeme 7)
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EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE

EXTERIOR

The entire extetior of St. Edwards is of pﬁmary significance. The building is very intact and the few
changes that affect its integrity are reversible.

Pryers gt T

INTERIOR

The intetior spaces have been grouped into three tiers; primary, secondary and tertiary. The following
drawings identify the locations of these levels. Each designation indicates the relative level of
significance and has implications for choices regarding future development. Significance for these levels
is defined as follows:

Primary: The areas of the building with the greatest cultural and architectural significance.
These areas also have strong historic integrity.

Secondaty: Areas of the building that have a unique cultural or architectural contribution to the
overall understanding of the building, but are not as significant as the primary spaces. The
integrity of the defining feature maintains its integtity.

Tertiary: Areas of the building that contain historic fabric but do not contribute unique cultural
ot architectural information about the building. Integrity may be intact or compromised.

Treatment is addressed at more length in Part Two but the following is a basic guideline for the levels of
significance defined:

Primaty: Areas where all finishes and features should be preserved to the greatest extent
possible. Any new wotk should either avoid these ateas or have its impact mitigated to retain
the defining features of the space.

Secondary: Areas where special attention should be paid to the historic defining features.
Remowal ot changes should only be undertaken if the resulting change will suppozt broader

preservation goals for the building as a whole.

Tertiary: Areas where changes may be made. As with all historic buildings, it is preferable to
retain or reuse historic fabric where practicable.
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W

CONDITION ASSESSMENT { poer v rssiue

BUILDING EXTERIOR

‘Roofs & flashing:
The roofing tiles themselves appear in fair condition with some limited breakage The condition of the

underlayment and fasteners is not known and should be the subject of further investigation, The copper
flashing material, coppet;, - a%pears to be in fair condition. Signs of water penetration in the building
below and adjacent to flashing structures, deformation of copper and large ateas of asphalt compounds
applied to flashing, however, indicate a broad scope of mechanical failure.

Pelblre
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Gutters & leaders:
The guttets, like other copper flashing structures, show evidence of wide spread leaking with water
migtating between the structural wall and exterior cladding and into the interior of the building, Water
migration associated with these structures appears at various points along their length, but is often
particularly prevalent at the connections to leaders. The leaders are internal to the building. Some show
signs of leaking, The leaks are most prevalent at the upper floors. It is not clear what percentage of the
leaking occuts at the joint with the gutter and what percentage is the result of actual leaks in the cast iron
leadets. The patterns of water damage in the building strongly suggest that the former is a greater
percentage.

Carnte iteFRE
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Issues with the site drainage structures (discussed at more length later) are clearly exacerbating water
infiltration related to gutters and leaders. It is reported by the owner that in heavy rains water actually
gushes from the leader heads and spﬂls out over the edge of the guttess. Gutters and leaders are gravity
systems, when they ate pressutized with standing or upward moving water even small leaks can cause 2
big impact.
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Masonty:

_ Where unaffected by water, the masonry is in good condition. The original tapestry brick is solid and the
pointing in good condition. The cast stone is generally sound and details remain ctisp. The exceptions
are areas where water has migrated. In these areas a broad area of efflorescence occurs with 2 smaller
region of black biological growth within it. In larger joints and crevices and in less sunny areas the
biological growth includes moss, fern or other plants. In limited areas some displacement of the facade
cladding occurs. These ate most notable at window heads and narrow pilasters where the cladding is not
as supported by the adjacent fabric. These displacements are likely early signs of failute in the ties
between the structural wall and cladding

See the following extetior condition drawings for approximate locations of detrimental conditions.
These drawings are based on ficld observatiox&i)@ﬁ should not be assumed to be an exhaustive condition

survey. A el
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Steel windows:

Where unaffected by watet, the steel windows ate in fair condition. The steel is rusting and paint loss is
common, but the bulk of the profile remains intact. Again, the exceptions are areas of water migration.
Accelerated rust occuts at points of water damage. Rust expansion results in difficulty closing operable
sashes and in some instances sashes ate rusted open. Some windows have rusted to the point of total
loss.

Some Ground Floor sash are rusted open and the grade is only inches from the open window. This is an
optimal entry point for animals.

See the following extetior condition drawings for locations of accelerated window deterioration, These
drawings are based on field obsetvation but should not be assumed to be an exhaustive condition
sutrvey. A2 :
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Wood windows:

Where unaffected by water, the wood windows are in fair to good condition. The windows have aged
relatively gracefully thanks to their matetial, mahogany. Exterior paint loss is typical. Some putty loss is
common, but not extensive. Some glass panes are broken, but not many. The operable sash slide easily
and hardware is typically in place. Exceptions occur, again, where water has migratcd In areas of heavy
water damage the sash, frame and trim are much rotted.

See the following exterior condition drawings for locations of accelerated window detetioration. These
drawings are based on field observation it should not be assumed to be an exhaustive condition
Survey cracl

Effect of building changes on historic integtity:

The original oak paneled doors were removed and replaced with rated metal doors duting the 1976
cgress changes. The new dooss are not compatible with the historic character of St. Edward Seminary.
. They severely detract from the integtity at very prominent public entry points.

The South fire escape, added in 1979, is not compatible with the historic character of the building. This
addition is latge and prominent on a fagade that is part of John Graham’s controlled unfolding view
upon arrival at the building., /a7 7#a cordgare ?’é(ra-:é Gohdtn. Lol Jv @i O

) TOeJg .
In 1979 a new door was installed at the South terminus of the Ambulatoty, in place of an arched top
window. The location of the new doorway is compatible with the historic character and intent of the
building. The materials and design, however, are not compatible. All early architectural schemes propose
a large chapel at the end of an Ambulatory. A perspective rendering of the Seminary shows the present
building as an anchoting cotner of a much larger complex. A towet, about ten stories high, is shown at
the South terminus of the Ambulatory. The proposed tower serves as the junction between the present
building, a grand chapel and additional Seminary wings. The construction documents actually indicate a
future opening to accommodate these additions. Therefore, a door at this location is an appropriate
change based in otiginal design intent. As constructed it is noticeably utilitatian - different design and
material choices could better integrate it into the historic fabric of the building.

In 2003, work was completed to repair damage caused by the 2001 Nisqually Earthquake. The work
included rebuilding the tower chimney and associated roof repair/replacement. Otiginal brick was
reused, except in non-visible locations, for this work. The units were placed and pointed to maintain the
original appearance of the chimney from the ground view. Associated roofing work reused original tiles
or replaced them in kind. This wotk did not affect the historic integrity of the building,
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STRUCTURAL & SEISMIC SYSTEMS

See attached repott

ROOF AND SITE WATER SYSTEMS

Water appears to be migrating into the building via three paths: the roof runoff collection system,
sutface runoff and subsurface flow.

Roof Runoff Collection System

Evidence of water migrating out of the rain leaders and damaging interior finishes was apparent in a
variety of locations within the building, This is likely due to leaky joints within the piping combined
with “tuberculated” pipes (ateas whete corrosion has reduced the pipe’s diameter significantly) that
retard water, allowing it to exit through leaks.

It was report on the site tour that the roof drains themselves become overwhelmed in storms (again
presumably due to retarded flow in the rain leader) and water escapes the drain body into the ceiling
spaces. Pividence of ceiling damage was apparent in numerous places, but evidence of attic water
intrusion was not found. l

A factor that likely exacerbates flow retardation-induced leaks is the rain leadet sizes. Most of the
leaders begin as 37 diameter pipes which is quite small by today’s standards.

Anecdotal accounts during the site to jndicated that the manhole near the old septic tank can blow its
lid due to rainwater pressure flow during heavy rain. This suggests that the entire site and building rain
water collection system is surcharged during rain events and is either undersized and/or sloped too flatly
and/or the septic tank was not augmented to function correctly in this manner and conttibutes to flow
retardation. :

Surface Runoff

Many portions of the site abutting the building perimeter are graded so that site generated rainfall flows
toward the building, Water is forced to collect along the face of building and then either make its way
into the soil and/or make its way into the building through cracks in the basement wall as subsutface
flow (see next section).

Subsurface Flow :

Subsutface flow or “ground watet” seems to be playing a significant role in water migration into the
building. Numerous areas within the building show evidence of water migrating through basement
walls. No evidence of a foundation/petimeter drainage collection system was found on the record
drawings, so it is presumed one does not exist. Consequently any ground water or sutface runoff that
becomes ground water makes its way into the building via cracks in the basement walls.

The Fan Room seems to be experiencing the greatest ground water-related problems. This room is at
elevation 328 or 10” below the rest of the building’s lowest level. ‘The air intake shaft outside the Fan
Room had water seeping into it during our site toufyit appeared that ground water was seeping in
through the shaft wall and a pipe that daylights tbg*éugh the wall had 2 small but steady flow of water
coming out of it and making its way to an area drain in the base slab of the areaway. Itis assumed that
the pipe that daylights through the areaway wall is an under slab drain line under the pool building
shown on record drawings. Tt appears from the record drawings and it was noted on the site tour that
the mechanical system’s condensate is discharged into the Fan Room sump as well.
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Anecdotal accounts indicated that the Fan Room can become severely flooded duting rain stotms. This
room contains a 2’-6” by 2’-6” by 4-6” deep sump that was referred to as a “cistern” during the building
tour, Several floor drains in the Fan Room are connected to this sump as well as the arca drain in the
areaway shaft outside the building, It appears that the sump is below the static ground water table as it is
always full of water (even in petiods of no rain.) When rain begins, it is theotized that the water table
tises and overwhelms the connected area drains so the entire room begins to flood. Additional rain both
raises the water table further and contributes sutface runoff to the room via the area drain in the shaft.
Additional water is conveyed via the pool under drain line whose flow likely becomes heavier as the
water table rises. Numerous pumps are used to discharge water from this roon@a‘t times these
systems are overwhelmed to emergency levels.

LIFE-SAFETY SYSTEMS

St. Edwards, like most historical buildings, does not meet current code requirements for cgress in spite
of code upgrades made in 1976, The location, enclosure and discharge of stairs will need to be addressed
comprehensively when a future use is defined. The following addresses the condition of the existing
egress systems:

Main Stair:

The physical condition of this stair-is good. The terrazzo treads and risers are sound. The railings are
stable and the finishes are generally sound. Limited areas of plaster damage occur in areas of watet
infiltration. The materials of the rated enclosure, added later, are in good condition, but they are not of
the same quality or finish as the original construction. The placement and the finishes of this enclosure
are detrimental to the historic integrity of the building. And, these enclosures do not fully satisfy current
~ code requirements. This stair contains a standpipe installed in 1976.

South Stair:

The physical condition of this stair is fair. The tetrazzo treads and risers ate sound. The railings are solid
and the finishes are generally sound except for a large area of plaster damage due to water infiltration.
The materials of the rated enclosure, added later, are in good condition, but they are not of the same
quality or finish as the original construction. Subsequent electrical work has breached the enclosure and
no fire-stopping was used. The placement and the finishes of this enclosute are detrimental to the
historic integrity of the building. Additionally, these enclosutres do not fully satisfy current code
requirements. This stair contains a standpipe installed in 1976.

East stair:

The physical condition of this stair is good. The terrazzo treads and
risers are sound. The railings are solid and the finishes are generally
sound.

Half flight from East Wing:
This wood stair with 2 wood handrzil is in poor condition due to
water infiltration.

Plieqe Cernoofl
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Other First Floor Exits:

The West, Bast and South Exits are in good condition on the intetior. The newer steel replacement
doots ate in fait condition with rust on the frames. These doors ate not of the same quality or finish as
the original construction and are detrimental to the historic integrity of the building, Their hardware is
not likely to meet current code requirements.

All exterior stairs have badly deteriorated mortar and some loose treads.
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Basement Exits: =

Two new exits and associated ateaways were added in the@? 6 egress work. The materials are in fair
condition, but they are not of the same quality ot finish as the original construction. Additionally, these
exits do not fully satisfy current code requirements. :

C hene e e
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Fire alarm systems and exit signs
They are present and functional, but would tequire replacement/modification when the larger egress
system is addressed. Some original exit signs exist and should be retained and reused if possible.

Sprinkler system
A sprinkler system is not preseat.

MECHANICAL ELECTRICAL AND PLUMBING SYSTEMS

Mechanical

The heating system is fanctional but at the end of its service life. The mechanical ventilation system is
neither functional nor code compliant. Windows and transoms are generally operable, but these systems
will have to be addressed comprehensively when a future use is defined.

Electrical ,

The electrical system was replaced from transformer to sub-panels in 1989, Wiring from sub-panels to
fixtures is presumed otiginal. This system appears adequate for the present but will need to be addressed
comprehensively when a new use is defined.

Lighting throughout the building is a mixture of historic fixtures and newer fixtutes. The historic fixtures
that remain ate in good condition but are missing some glass globes. These fixtures are significant and
should be retained in all primaty and secondaty spaces to the greatest extent possible. The newet lighting
is in fair condition. It does not have historic significance.

The Telephone system is functional but will need to be addressed comprehensively when a new use is
defined.

Plumbing

The only functional public restrooms ate located on first floor adjacent to the Priests’ Common Room.
Other functioning plumbing exists in the three residences. The rest of the domestic water system is
largely dysfunctional. Leaks in sinks and traps, shower heads and pans are evident throughout the
building, Several fixtures have been removed. Significant portions of the piping ate imbedded in
(térracot,tég%artidons limiting access and future flexibility. The plumbing system is in poor condition

throughouts_

b

‘

INTERIOR SPACES AND FINISHES

Interior spaces are generally intact and show wear appropriate for the age of the building. The original
materials were of good quality and appropriate to the use and have held up well. Exceptions occur where
water has infiltrated, as a result of seismic activity, due to removal ot subsequent work. Some materials
are simply at the end of there useful life.

Water infiltration, both exterior sources and interior plumbing have caused the greatest amount of
intetior damage. In affected areas staining, plaster deterioration and loss is typical. Rust stains, from
metal lath are evident on plaster finishes. Rot and matetial loss is occurring on wood finishes. Rubber
tiles are cupped and delaminated from the floor. Linoleum is stained. And, stone stools and bases are
showing displacement, presumably from expansion of undetlying materials.
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Seismic events have resulted in damage to finishes. These cracks are the result of finish materials that are
more brittle than the structure and are not necessarily indicative of structural damage. Cracks are

typically small and appeat in the same pattern or formation room after room especially, on upper levels
of the South Wing. The kitchen also has several cracks in tile finishes. Particularly notable is surface
damage associated with seismic movement at the expansion joint between the building center and South
Wing. The joint is visibly displaced by a couple inches, especially on upper floors.

Removal of finish materials occurred after testing reveled hazardous materials. Vinyl asbestos tile was
removed from sevetal areas on the Ground floor — no finish replaces it.

Subsequent work has impacted the historic integrity of interior spaces. The 1976 egress upgrade, while
improving safety, would not meet the Secretary of Interior Standards for Rehabilitation. The materials
ate not of like kind and quality to the histotic structure and the placement of new partitions detracts
from the character of the building — most notably the Stair Hall and Ambulatory.

T'wo additions, a Sactisty in the Study Hall and one in the Rectreation Room are a record of Seminary
use, They are not, however, at the same level of significance as the Original Architecture. And, the
matetials and form are not of the quality of the Original Architecture. Thereforte, their continued
presence is not supporting the preservation goals set forth in this report.

Linoleum flooting is used very extensively throughout the building. This is the one interior historic

material that may be beyond refurbishing, Linoleum settles easily under the weight of furniture, resulting
in many indentations over time, Fortunately it is easy to replace with high quality new linoleum.
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See the following interior condidon drawings for locations of water migration in the building, seismic
damage to finishes and areas of subsequent work. These drawings are based on field observation but et o o
should not be assumed to be an exhaustive condition survey.

Pents  Lecatretw Aswd Clapor
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PART 2 — TREATMENT & WORK RECOMMENDATIONS

OBJECTIVES BASED ON EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE

BROAD DIRECTION FOR TREATMENT AND USE

Currently the building is unused, with the exception of four residences and a single assembly area for 49
5. persons in the Dining Room. A comprehensive new use for the building has not yet been defined~It-is-
77 —thesubject-of an-ongoing-public process.

St Edward is an extraordinary building and cultural resource. It requires stabilization now to ensure that
it remains intact and structurally sound. The damage to date is repairable, but loss will increase rapidly if
it is not addressed soon. The full value of this building will not be realized until it is again occupied. The
new use should retuen life and meaning to the building while honoring and preserving the significant
elements of its history as a Seminary. ‘ '

STANDARDS FOR TREATMENT

The Sectetary of the Intetior’s “Standards for the Trearment of Historic Properties” outline
recommended procedures for treating historic properties, notably those such as St. Edward that are
listed in the National Register of Historic Places. The primary intent of the Standards is to preserve as
much of the historic fabric and character as possible, while providing opportunities for productive use
of the historic property. To these ends, four types of treatment are defined:

o  Preservation focuses on the maintenance and repair of existing historic materials and the retention
of the property’s form, allowing sensitive upgrading of systems but no additions.

o Rehabilitation allows alterations and additions to make possible a new use for a historic property,
while presctving the features that convey its historical, cultural or architectural significance and
character. ,

®  Restoration involves removing evidence of certain petiods in order to accurately depict a propetty
at a particular period in its history.

o  Reonstruction involves recreating a lost property in its historic location, usually for interpretive
putposes.

Decisions about which treatment is most appropriate for a particular property depend on the property’s
significance, physical condition, historic integrity and potential uses. There are specific guidelines to be
used for each treatment to assute that the property is treated sensitively and its features and character are
preserved to the extent possible.

SPECIFIC TREATMENT STRATEGIES

Futute work on St, Edwards Seminary should be guided by the standards of Rehabilitation.

-'és’st- D
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REQUIREMENTS FOR WORK

TREATMENT REQUIRED FOR BUILDING STABILIZATION

Roof and Site Water Requirements

The migration of water into the building via the existing rain leader system can be most likely remedied
completely by improving the ability of the site drainage system to convey rainfall events, The site
drainage system does not appear to be designed to convey low to moderate flows in a conventional,
controlled manner and, moteover, there does not appear to be a conventional overflow route provide
near the site system’s outfall. It is recommended that the roof rain collection line be unconnected from
the old septic tank so that a free outfall is provided down the existing ravine. This will likely require
constructing a pipeline down the ravine slope to the base of the slope and outfitting the end of the pipe
with an energy dissipation structure. The new pipeline could potentially be placed on-grade and
restrained periodically along its length with a shackle and soil anchor system. The enetgy dissipation
structure could consist of an open-top vault sutrounded by gabion baskets. The old septic tank will be
no longer in use and can be abandoned in place.

The City of Kenmote may require new stormwater detention to coatrol the rate of release of stormwater
to the tavine. For a stabilization project of this nature, their decision in this regard would be a
negotiation based on the engineering evidence of existing ravine condition, stormwater flow rates etc. If
required, a detention system could be networked into the system described above and would have the
affect of holding roof-runoff during a storm event and then slowly releasing it to the ravine after the
event passes. A detention system could take on the form of an underground concrete vault or could be
something more organic such as a detention pond or rain garden. It is assumed that any organic,
landscape-based detention solution would be an “end-of-pipe” solution due to the “cultural landscape”
nature of the site. However, if acceptable, a more sustainable and cost-effective approach would be to
site multiple mini rain gardens at multiple points around the building where rain leaders exit,

A full site and topographic survey that includes the ravine will be required to carry out 2 mitigation
design. A geotechnical investigation will also be required to better understand how the site soils
percolate.

'The mitigation described above would likely eliminate the rain leader water migration problem
altogether. It is recommended that this work be carried out ptior to any in-building plumbing
replacement. If the existing rain leadets continue to show some signs of water migration after
improvement of the site system, then individual in-building rain leader improvements can be identified
and carried out. -

(Y T g ,7/c,uu\-ul-4‘--
Surface Runoff Migration Mitigation CAuorarc 7
It is recommended that the grades around the building be subtly modified to create a “back grading”
condition anywhere that existing grades allow water to sheet flow to the face of building. This “back
grading” would have the affect of creating a subtle low point a couple feet outward of the face of
building. It is futther recommended that a French drain be installed at this new low point around the
entire building perimeter, wherever existing grades allow sheet flow toward the building. This French
drain would consist of a perforated drain pipe in a well graded gravel material all of which is separated
from adjacent soils by an #PDM liner. The French drain would be tied into the lower petimeter
foundation drainage systemAnd numerous points along its length. This two-step approach (grading plus
French drain) will ensure sheet flows are intercepted before the encounter the building and that
intercepted flows do not gond, but instead are conveyed via the French drain into the new building

5{7(1,(_,L A

58



DRAFT September 28, 2007

foundation drainage system described in the next section. The goal for these two interventions is that
they are both low-profile and will not change the cultural landscape.

Subsurface Flow Migration Mitigation
Tt is recommended that a2 new building foundation drainage system be installed around the entire
building perimeter. This would require excavating existing soils away from the basement walls and
installing a perforated drain pipe in well-graded gravel backfill at the basc of the wall and ensuring that
the basement wall has a well-draining material in contact with it for its entire height., This matetial could
be a swath of well-graded gravel (drain rock) or a cellular drainage mat such as Miradrain. It is further
recommended that a waterproofing matetial be applied to all subterranean wall surfaces. The perforated
drain pipe would ultimately discharge to the rain leader collection system at the ravine. eo/ ae peTeurm <
PR 4 cpre/s CouureTion .
The fan room presents an added problem in that it appears that portions of it are situated below the
static ground water table, receives flow from the up-gradient pool building underdrain system as well as
the atea drain in the air intake shaft. Itis recommended that the pool underdrain and the air intake shaft
area drain be disconnected from the fan toom sump and routed around or under the building in a new
tight line that would ultimately convey these flows to the rain leader collection system at the ravine.

The above changes to the fan toom sump would result in only a few existing floor drains and the
mechanical system’s condensate return watet being connected to it. This should result in only incidental
flows being conveyed to the sump which should be manageable by a single pump station as long as
ground watet is precluded from entering into the system. </ mo PeTRaTAL FOR A ClpOL/ CovuneTrint

It is unclear how much groundwater is seeping into the sump and by what means. It is recommended
that a geotechnical investigation be cartied out to determine the groundwater level (and how that level
changes over time) and flow rates. If groundwater is a problem, it is recommended that the sump in the
fan room be rebuilt in 2 manner similar to modern elevator pits which are typically designed to be watet
tight on their surfaces that ate in contact with the soil. This should eliminate a path for ground watet
intrusion. Any floor drains and connecting pipes connected to the sump would also need to be checked
as to whether they are providing a path for groundwater intrusion and if so, should be rebuilt or, if no
longer needed, capped in a watertight mannet.

Once flows to the sump ate reduced by the above methods, flows to the sump should be manageable by
a single pump station. Internal floor drains are required by code to be conveyed to a sanitary sewet 5o it
is recommended that only the existing pump system that is connected to the sewer be kept in service.
This cutrent system has been installed as an emergency provision so it may require some improvements
to render it a part of permanent construction that is designed to come on periodically to empty the
sump. Tt would also be prudent to teplace the current setup with a modern sump pump station with
automatic controls that is designed to operate automatically when water reaches a certain level in the
SUMP: ' AT ABONT A4 CRAVETT Oraimt Fram THE Sorp 7
Seismic stabilization

See attached reporyy

Roofs, Flashing & Gutters

All copper flashing materials should be replaced, with new copper, retaining historic profiles. Attention
to mechanical joint details and use of modern membrane waterproofing products in conjunction with
the copper can improve the futute performance of these systems while maintaining the histotic integrity
of the building, The flashing work is extensive and, to do the job propetly, it will require removal of a
significant percentage of roofing material. Therefore, due to age of the historic roof and the impact of
the flashing work it is recommended that the entire roof be refurbished. This work includes; removal
and salvage of historic tile; removal of old substrate to expose the cast concrete structute; tepair of any

b2
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underlying deterioration in the cast concrete; application of ice and water shield over entire roof sutface;
reinstallation of tile, with new matching tile interspersed as required.

In addition to the main tile roof, St. Edward has several flat built up roofs and smaller flashed gutters
where the fagade steps out to 2 larger foot ptint on lower levels. The built-up roofs are well beyond their
useful lives and should be replaced. New membrane roofing includes; removal of old materials,
installation of new tapered insulation, membrane roofing and counter flashing. All flashed guttets,
throughout the building should be replaced with new connections to interior cast iron leaders and drain
strainers.

Masonry.

Areas of masonry affected by watet infiltration will need a variety of treatments. Specific restoration
approptiate cleaning will be requited for areas of efflorescence and biological growth. Cast stone with
displacement need to be addressed to prevent loss. Cast stone with cracks internal to the unit need the
cracfinjected and finished to prohibit water penetration. Spalled and missing bricks need to be replaced.
Ateas of pointing loss need to be re-pointed with mortar matched to the existing adjacent mortar.
Restoration cleaning of tust stains below cast iron elements is required. Finally, a light general cleaning
of the entire building is recommended.

All extetior masonty staits, serving the first floor, will require limited re-building and full re-pointing.

Cast stone at entrances need to be pinned to the structure in order to maintain clear egress in a seismic
event.

Windows

It is recommended that most windows be replaced with new more energy efficient windows that match
the existing historic window profiles exactly. The exceptions are the historic steel sash in the Ambulatory
and Dining room, Priests’ Common Room and Priests’ Dining Room. These windows should be
restored to opetating condition. The work includes; preparation of the metal, repainting, re-glazing and
puttying as required and oiling of hinges.

Cast Iron
All extetior cast iron elements need to be prepped and
painted to arrest rusting and resulting staining,

Mechanical Electrical & Plumbing

The heat in the building should be maintained. No electrical
wotk is required for stabilization. The plumbing should be
discontinued to the greatest extent possible.

Priars | Lo cagees
C—@lmur’
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TREATMENT REQUIRED FOR RESTORATION OF CHARACTER DEFINING FEATURES

Exterior:

The otiginal oak paneled entry doots, removed in 1976, should be
restored to their original locations. The doors urrently stored in the
basement. The original doors should be surveygd, repaired as necessary
and reinstalled in their original locations. FlAv e PASSE

{
BPListe ottt “ enneg

The South fire escape added in 1979, is not
compatible with the histotic character of the building
and should be removed. It is, howevet, currently
serving as the second means of egress for two
residences on the Second and Third Floors. It must be
maintained until interior egress systems are reworked
to provide an alternative second means of egress. It
may be possible to remove it sooner if the residences

are unoccupied — this decision would be at the
discretion of the Building Official.

The newer dootway, at the South terminus of the
Ambulatory should be retained, but redesigned. The
location of this door is historically and architecturally

_ significant and its design and materials should reflect
that. It is also a useful means of egress. It should be
redesigned, with a more thoughtful interpretation of
the St. Edward’s architectural style and materials.

The windows in thie Study Hall are silver colot, sliding aluminum replacements that detract from the
historic integtity of the building. These should be replaced Wlth new double glazed metal windows that
match the histotic window profiles and divisions.

The new ateaways augmenting egress from the building are not designed in a way that is in keeping with
the quality or character of the building. And, their placement does not meet cutrent codes for egress.
When a new use for the building is identified and the larger egress system reviewegdjhese exits should be
replaced ot redesigned. A new design can better address egress safety and be a moré thoughtful
interpretation of the St. Edward’s architectural style and materials.
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Interiot: v
The current enclosures of two fire stairs are not designed in a way that is in keeping with the quality or
character of the building, ?jvd their placement does not meet current codes for egress. When a new use
for the building is identificd 4nd the latger egress system revieweghthese exits should be replaced or
redesigned. A new design can better address egress safety and be'd more thoughtful interpretation of the

St. Edwatd’s architectural style and materlalb
All surfaces damaged by water infiltration require restoration in all primary and most secondary spaces.

The remaining historic fixtures in all primaty and secondary significance areas should be refurbished and
reinstalled. Other historic fixtures in tertiaty areas should be refurbished and reused where practicable.
The historic clocks should be retained in situ in primary spaces and retained of relocated in all other
spaces.

Gates are cutrently employed to limit public access. Removal of gates will be required when the building
use pattern changes.

Acoustic tile, throughout many of the Public and Academic spaces should be removed. Alternative
acoustic treatments,@ velvet drapes in the dining room, can provide a more visually appropriate
solution,

(’Sdfi\ ar
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TREATMENT REQUIRED TO MEET BUILDING CODES AND FEDERAL REGULATIONS

The future use of the building is not currently defined. Complete analysis of code requirements is not
possible before that point. Regardless of use, however, the following code issues will all need to be-

addressed:

Fite and Life Safety doe ke |
Egress, throughout the bdilding, will require comprehensive updating. Use of any existing stairs for
egress will almost cegtainly require changes in enclosure, layout and discharge to meet cutrent codes.
Several areas of the building do not have access to a second means of egress. Assembly spaces,

_ depending on ogfupancy, may tequite more than two exits. The current placement of exits rately meets
requirements fot remoteness. The location of the South stair makes possible a dead end corridot beyond
it, further South, on the Sccond and Third Floors. Paths of egress, requiring a rating, will be difficult to
accomplish reusing existing construction. All of these issues require further investigation when use is
defined.

An option that any redevelopment should consider is eliminating the burden of egress from the main
stair. This choice will greatly improve opportunities to retain its historic integrity, particularly its
relationship to the Lobby and other First Floor public spaces.

"The building will almost certainly requite a new fire alarm and sprinkler system.

Structural & Seismic
See attached report

Mechanical Electrical and Plumbing Requitements

The building will requite all new code compliant Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing systems
throughout. The location and quantity of toilets will most certainly be impacted, as the original building
is designed for single gender use.

Energy Performance

New windows and insulation will be required to meet energy performance. To meet overall building
performance this work should be disproportionably weighted to tertiary and hidden spaces to allow for
retention of histotic material and architectural form in primary spaces. After analysis, it should be
possible to retain some otiginal windows and avoid furring for insulation where it will best support
historic integtity.

Accessibility Requirements

Accessibility requitements will have impacts throughout the building, Certainly, the West building
entrance, and change of level in the lobby will need to be made accessible. The elevator footpsint is too
small to meet code requirements. The Second Floor of the East Wing is about four feet lower than the
Second Floot served by the elevator and therefore poses an accessibility challenge. Any redevelopment
strategy will need to address these issues as part of a comprehensive plan for exterior access, vertical
circulation, path through the building, hardware, toilets and safe egress.

Solutions to these issues will need to be balanced with preservation goals. Whete compliance
alternatives are apptoptiate, they need approval by the Building Official

Hazardous Materials

The building has been the subject of much testing fot the presence of lead and asbestos containing
 materials. Fortunately, testing to date reveals limited presence. Those materials identified and any
uncovered in future redevelopment need to be handled and disposed of propetly.
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WORK RECOMMENDATIONS

TIERED TABLE WITH COST ESTIMATES FOR STABILIZATION
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ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED BUT NOT RECOMMENDED

BUILDING EXTERIOR

Targeted, not comprehensive, approach to roof repair

STRUCTURAL & SEISMIC SYSTEMS

ROOF AND SITE WATER SYSTEMS

At this time, it is not tecommended that a wholesale in-building rain leader plumbing replacement be
catried out.

LIFE-SAFETY SYSTEMS

a .
- @REQUIREMENTS
No alternatives considered

INTERIOR SPACES
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PART 2 — SOURCES

BIBLIOGRAPHY

OTHER SOURCES

PART 2 — APPENDICES

GLOSSARY

Ambulatory: (noun) a covered walkway of a cloister
Egress: (noun) an exit from a place

Retedos:

GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS FOR BUILDING STABILIZATION

STRUCTURAL & SEISMIC REPORT
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is provided to give an updated general structural condition and seismic
assessment of the Washington State Park’s historic St. Edward building. Identified in the
report are structural and seismic deficiencies with recommended repair and mitigation,
where warranted, provided both in written and concept sketch format.

= Scope of Work: provide a General Structural Condition and Seismic Assessment with
recommended repairs and seismic upgrade concept.

= Building Description: The building was constructed in 1931. It is predominantly 4
stories with smaller wings of 2 and 3 stories and with full basement throughout.
Located toward the north section of the building along the west elevation is the main
entry to the building and rising in proximity to this location is a é6-story tower. Currently
much of the building is unoccupied except for a small portion of the northeast wing
occupied by the resident park manager. The building foundation is provided by
shallow continuous concrete wall footings and spread footings. The structural gravity
and lateral resisting systems for the entire building is provided by a reinforced
concrete framework. The basement floor is a slab on grade. Floors and sloped roofs
are reinforced concrete beam and slab systems.

s General Structural Condition: The structure is generally in good condition, however,
water intrusion from failed storm water drainage systems and basement ground water
from failing perimeter curtain drains can lead to concrete reinforcing corrosion and

concrete spalls.

= General Structural Condition Recommendations: Repair storm water drainage
systems. Repair perimeter curtain drain and provide basement wall exterior

waterproofing.

= Basis of Seismic Assessment: The seismic assessment is based on a life safe objective
in consideration of a 10% in 50 year seismic event (about a 500 year seismic event). A
life safe objective is infended to limit occupant injury and provide post-earthguake
egress. A seismic hazard at 10% probability of exceedance in 50 years is a design
level earthquake. This criteria is consistent with the standard of evaluations of
non-essential facilities (i.e. not emergency post-earthquake operational facilities) and
consistent for undergoing a voluntary or mandatory seismic upgrade.

m  Seismic Deficiencies: The building lacks an adequate lateral resisting system. Masonry
exterior facade lacks adequate ties to the concrete frame that is of concern at points
of egress to meet Life Safety objective. Hollow Clay Tile (HCT) interior partitions are
susceptible to damage and at risk to block egress to and from the building if damage
occurs along major corridors and stairways of an occupied building.

Structural Condition and Seismic Asses;men’r

St. Edward Building, Kenmore, Washington
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= Seismic Recommendations: Add reinforced concrete shear walls distributed and
placed to adequately meet Life Safety objective. Provide pinning of masonry clbove
major enfrances of the building. Remove or strong-back HCT partitions located at
stairwells and along other major corridors of occupied interiors.

INTRODUCTION

This report provides a general structural condition assessment and an assessment of the
expected seismic performance of the historic St. Edward building. If includes:

s Observations of the general structural condition

= An evaluation of the seismic-load-resisting ability of the lateral system

= |dentifies potential deficiencies

= Provides preliminary recommendations for repairs and seismic upgrades.

SCOPE OF ASSESSMENT

The assessment is based on:
n  Visual observation of the building

s Review of the available original architectural and structural design drawings
= Review of the 2001 FEMA post-Nisqually seismic damage report

From the results of the structural investigation, structural calculations were performed
where applicable. The assessment is primarily concerned with the expected
performance of structural elements. Nonstructural elements are only addressed if they
pose significant life-safety hazard potential, such as falling hazards or seismic damage

blocking a primary means of egress.

The initial seismic evaluation is based on the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE)
standard Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings (ASCE 31-03). The evaluation is based on
a Life Safety performance level (as defined by ASCE 31), which is consistent with common
practice for buildings of this construction type and occupancy. The recommendations
for seismic upgrades, where warranted, are based on the ASCE standard Seismic
Rehabilitation of Existing Buildings (ASCE 41). The criteria and methodology for the
seismic evaluation and rehabilitation are discussed in greater detail in a subsequent
section.

Structural Condition and Seismic Assessment

St. Edward Building, Kenmore, Was'hing’ron
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The development of the recommendations into concept seismic upgrade plans are
provided with consideration of the existing structural framing. Coordination and
interaction with other program objectives, greater project scenarios, existing building
systems, and other potential upgrades are limited to historic and conceptual
architectural objectives identified within the Historic Structural Report.
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The following table lists the drawings reviewed during the course of this assessment.

Drawing

Sheet Date Firm Description

1 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Ground Floor Plan
Engineer

2 Jan 1231 John Graham Architect and Architect First Floor Plan
Engineer

3 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Second Floor Plan
Engineer

4 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Third Floor Plan
Engineer

5 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Fourth Floor Plan
Engineer

6 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Attic & Roof Plan
Engineer

7 Jan 19231 John Graham Architect and Architect West Elevation
Engineer

8 Jan 1931 John Graham Archifect and Architect East Elevation and
Engineer Section

9 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Elevations
Engineer

10 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Sections
Engineer

11 Jan 19231 John Graham Architect and Architect Details Main Entrance
Engineer

12 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Detail of Upper Portion
Engineer of Tower

13 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Exterior Details

Engineer

Structural Condition and Seismic Assessment

st. Edward Bt)ilaing,”Kenmore, Washington




MAGNUSSON
KLEMENCIC

ASSOCIATES

SECOND DRAFT

Drawing

Sheet Date Firm Description

14 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Architect Exterior Details
Engineer

15 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Architect Detail South Enirance
Engineer West Elevation

16 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Architect Entrance East
Engineer Elevation

17 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Architect Stair & Elevator Details
Engineer

18 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Architect Toilet Room Details
Engineer

19 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Misc. Details
Engineer

20 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Architect Misc. Details
Engineer

101 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Structural Foundation Plan
Engineer

102 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Structural First Floor Framing Plan
Engineer

103 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Second Floor Framing
Engineer Plan

104 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Third Floor Framing
Engineer Plan

105 Jan 1931  John Graham Architect and Structural Fourth Floor Framing
Engineer Plan

106 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Roof & Tower Framing
Engineer Plan

107 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Column Schedule
Engineer

108 Jan 1931 John Graham Archi"rec’r and Structural Column Schedule

Engineer
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Sheet  Date Firm Description
109 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Stair Framing
Engineer
110 Jan 1931 John Graham Architect and Structural Second Floor Framing
Engineer Plan

BUILDING DESCRIPTION

The St. Edward main historic building is the oldest of several buildings on the large
acreage Saint Edward State Park site in Kenmore, Washington and the subject building of
this review. The building was originally built in 1931 and from that time occupied as a
Seminary until closure and transfer to Washington State Parks in 1977. The building has
been largely unoccupied since that time, however, maintained by Parks. The basic
building structure is unchanged from the original design.

The main building lies along the north-south axis in a long rectangular plan shape 4 stories
tall (about 271 feet by 38 feet) with the last 45 feet of the south end of the main building
at 3-stories. Much of the long main building south of the main entrance was originally
referred to as the Dormitory Wing and referred to herein for sake of clarity. Smaller wings
extend from the main building: a 2-story wing extending north (about 82 feet by 39 feet),
and a 2-story wing off the north end of the building extending east (about 85 feet by 58
feet). Over a small portion of the east wing there is a roof terrace accessed from the
second floor. Itis also in this east wing that the Park Manager currently resides. The main
entfrance is located on the north end and west elevation of the 4-story portion of the
building. A 6-story 24 foot by 24 foot square Belfry Tower is located in proximity to the

enfrance.

Below the Ground Floor (Basement Level) is a 4'-9" wide by 4' deep reinforced concrete
utility tunnel that begins from the boiler room in the east wing and runs down the center
of the main Dormitory Wing. The utility tunnel runs past a small dropped sub-basement
"Fan Room" and "Sump Pump Room" located about 105 feet from the south end of the

main Dormitory Wing.

The building has a foundation system of reinforced-concrete shallow wall footings and
spread footings throughout. The main building has perimeter wall footings supporting the
basement walls with integral spread footings supporting basement wall pilasters. A
north-south line of interior spread footings (spaced at about 17 feet apart, and offset from
centerline) support columns that run the length of the main building. Four large spread
footings are within the footprint of and support the four corner columns of the Belfry
Tower. The north wing has perimeter wall and spread footings supporting basement wallls
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and basement wall pilasters. The east wing has perimeter basement wall footings and
eight evenly distributed interior. spread footings supporting interior columns.

The entire main building and wings are framed with reinforced concrete. The ground
floor is a concrete slab on grade of undetermined thickness (appears from scale of
original details to be about 5-1/2 to é inches thick). Perimeter reinforced concrete
basement walls vary in thickness from 6 inches to the maijority at about 8 inches thick and
taller walls at about 9 inches thick. Thickened pilasters along basement wallls typically
correspond to perimeter concrete columns or piers above.

The Third and Fourth Floors and the roof of the double loaded Dormitory Wing have a
series of interior columns aligned to the corridor partition walls. The easternmost set of
these interior columns get transferred on large 21 inch wide by 45 inch deep reinforced
concrete transfer beams at the second floor.

All elevated floors and the roof are framed with reinforced concrete slabs spanning to
beams. Beams are supported on the exterior perimeter frame and interior reinforced
concrete columns. The roof reinforced concrete slab and beam system are sloped to the
roof profiles. Floor and roof slabs vary from 4 to é inches with most being 5 inches thick.
Beams depths vary but are typically in the 2 foot depth range. The perimeter beams are
typically much deeper.

The perimeter of the building is a punched opening system as a result of the exterior
structural concrete frame formed around window openings. This creates a frame of
deep reinforced concrete headers and beams formed above and below windows and
walll piers to the sides of window openings. This framework currently provides the major
lateral resistance for the building. A 2-inch separation joint located at the north end of
the main Dormitory Wing separates this wing from the north enfry portion of the main
building. This joint occurs on the First Floor and continues on up through the roof. This joint
results in the separation of lateral resisting systems of the building north and south of the

joint,

STRUCTURAL CONDITION

The conditions observed during the site visit involve only those elements that were
exposed or readily visible. The occupied east wing was not accessible. The condition of
structural framework was assessed for those elements visible using nondestructive means
as well as any evidence of floor deflection, foundation settlement, significant
deterioration or damage. From site observation the St. Edward building appears to be in
better condition than expected for a building of this vintage. Observed condition and
observed evidence of the general structural condition were based on the following:

= Significant water infrusion was evident at different locations throughout the building,
however, this does not appear to have caused structural damage at this time. Upper
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level floors appear to be affected by failing interior storm drains and this has currently
led to localized nonstructural damage. While no structural damage was observed,
structural damage (reinforcing steel corrosion and associated concrete spalling) can
be expected to occur if water intrusion continues unabated. Recommend repair of
the building storm water drainage systems.

Building storm water is currently collected in a sub-basement sump room that was
observed and reported to contain added sump pumps as the result of past pump
failures or capacity overloads that led to past partial basement flooding. Reportedly
standing water in sump pump room, utility tunnels, and up to 4 inches in the basement
have occurred in the past. Long term water exposure does not appear fo have
occurred. The structure does not appear to be damaged from short duration
exposure to water. However, it is recommended the building storm water systems be
uUpgraded to preclude potential flooding and further structural exposure to flood
water.

The exterior brick masonry is considered nonstructural (not part of the building's
primary gravity or lateral framework). The potential for loose or falling hazards from
failing exterior brick masonry is a subject of Life Safety both from general facade
failure or from seismic egress consideration (see Seismic Assessment section of this
report). From general structural observation, the brick facade appears to be better
than average for a building of this vintage. Exterior brick masonry walls do have
localized areas of black discoloration associated with points of storm water drain
failure. Some walls evidencing associated brick masonry spall and/or cracking was
observed. Storm water drainage repair and facade cleaning will be needed in any
general facade repair. A thorough facade assessment is not included in this Structural
Evaluation. We defer to a more thorough treatment of fagade assessment and
recommendations in a separate Facade Evaluation section of this Historic Structure

Report.

Some localized ground water intrusion was evident at a few basement wall locations.
Small wall cracks were apparent at these locations, however, no concrete spall or
reinforcing corrosion was observed that would indicate prolonged water exposure.
This indicates that these leaks have had timely repairs consistent with the repairs
(water proofing on back side of basement wall) reported by the Park Manager.
Extensive waterproofing of basement walls combined with improving/repairing
curtain drains around the perimeter of the building should be addressed to help guard
against future significant basement wall ground water infrusion.

Some nonstructural damage was observed at the building separation joint indicative

-
[}

Antd Cariga EVETY

of building movement and building interaction from the 2001 Nisqually seismic event. g

The building undergoing shaking during the earthquake would have damaged
nonstructural finishes bridging the separation joint. Joint covers are damaged in that
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they appear loose and have separated from base structure. Brick masonry exterior at
the joint was reported to have also been damaged and repaired.

= |t was reported that Parks has continued to heat the unoccupied building. This is
evident by the very limited paint and plaster damage that is typically associated with
unoccupied and unconditioned interior space.

SEISMIC EVAILUATION

INTRODUCTION TO THE SEISMIC EVALUATION

The design of new buildings in King County typically is governed by the International
Building Code (IBC) (as amended by City jurisdictions). However, this code is neither
intended for the evaluation of existing buildings nor appropriate for that use. Codes for
new buildings, including the IBC, contain three basic types of requirements: strength,
stiffness, and detailing. The strength and stiffness requirements are easily transferred to the
evaluation of existing buildings, but the detailing provisions are not. The detailing
requirements (for example, the proportioning of structural members and connections) in
the IBC are in place to ensure that the systems that provide the building's strength and
stiffness perform as intended. These requirements have been significantly revised
throughout the Code update cycles as the knowledge base of building performance has
increased, either through observations from earthquakes or as a result of various research
programs. Since the strength and stiffness of an existing building cannot be adequately
addressed without assurances of proper detailing, guidelines have been developed
specifically for the seismic evaluation of existing buildings.

Evaluation Guidelines

The basis of the seismic evaluation is ASCE Standard 31-03, Seismic Evaluafion of Existing
Buildings, commonly referred to as ASCE 31. This document represents the most current
practice for seismic evaluations. The purpose of ASCE 31 is to provide guidance in the
review of an existing building's response to a predetermined-fpvel of earthquake based
on a selected performance level. The ASCE 31 me’rlﬂ{)d,eﬂegy onsists of three phases, or
tiers. The first phase is used to screen for any po’ren{iql deficiencies in the
lateral-load-resisting system. Potential deficiencies are then examined in more detail
during the second phase, and if necessary, a rigorous, full-building evaluation can be
performed as a third phase.

JSIKb %
The first phase, Tier 1, is a screening phase Hg-li%ng a series of checklists designed to

identify potential flaws and weaknesses commaon to specific building types. Each
checklist is a collection of evaluation statements describing building characteristics that
are considered necessary to achieve the desired performance level.
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The second phase, Tier 2, is a further evaluation of the deficiencies identified during the
Tier 1 evaluation. This analysis is typically performed on just those elements identified as
being non-compliant with the Tier 1 acceptance criteria. In some cases, further
evaluation of the entire building is required, depending on the building type, number of
stories, desired performance level, and site seismicity.

The final phase, Tier 3, is not usually performed for typical seismic evaluations and was
not used here. It involves performing a very detailed seismic evaluation of the building,
usually involving some seismic rehabilitation measures. A rehabilitation analysis will be

performed during the renovation design phase.

ASCE 31 is intended to identify seismic deficiencies that may require mitigation.
Conceptual upgrade recommendations are provided for identified deficiencies.
However, the design of the seismic upgrade is beyond the scope of the ASCE 31
standard. Where they are warranted, the conceptual upgrade approaches will be
based on ASCE 41, Seismic Rehabilitation of Existing Buildings. ASCE 41 provides design
requirements for new elements within an existing building and includes provisions that are
intended to ensure adequate performance of the existing elements that are relied upon
to provide lateral resistance or to support gravity loads. ASCE 41 provides a rational
method for combining the strength and stiffness of new and existing elements within the
strengthened building and includes provisions for the interconnection of these elements
to form a complete and adequate lateral load paih. '

It should be noted that ASCE 41 might require a greater scope of rehabilitation than that
identified in the prior ASCE 31 evaluation. As stated in ASCE 41, Commentary
Section C1.3,

"[ASCE 31] is specifically intended to accept somewhat greater levels
of damage within each performance level than permitted by [ASCE
41], which is consistent with the historic practice of evaluating existing
buildings for slightly lower criteria than those used for design of new

buildings."

In other words, once the decision has been made to seismically rehabilitate a building,
the standard of care increases.

Seismic Performance Objectives

In traditional and current codes for new buildings, seismic performance is considered
implicitly. Specified seismic force levels are used to provide adequate strength and
stiffness based on implicit performance objectives, and prescriptive detailing
requirements are used to provide a high degree of confidence that these performance
objectives will be achieved. As indicated previously, this method is not applicable for
existing buildings because the level of seismic detdiling cannot be controlled in most
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cases. For this reason, the current seismic evaluation and rehabilitation guidelines are
based on explicit performance objectives. Such an approach is also known as
"performance-based design”. A specific seismic performance objective consists of two
parts: a performance level and a seismic hazard (magnitude or frequency of

earthquake).

The seismic evaluation of the historic St. Edward building is based on the ASCE 31 Life
Safety Occu erformance criteria for the seismic hazard level specified by the
eafttle Building Code)or major renovations. The design-level seismic hazard is taken as
an earthguake with an average recurrence interval of approximately 500 years. A similar
approach would be used for a seismic rehabilitation in accordance with ASCE 41.

A building that achieves the Life Safety requirements of ASCE 31/ASCE 41 for this
design-level seismic hazard is considered to provide a degree of protection against
life-threatening injury resulting from a major earthquake that is roughly similar to that of a
building conforming to the current building code, although with somewhat less reliability.
Moreover, St. Edward, like most buildings of this vintage, lacks the detailing that would
serve to reduce the expected level of damage in smaller, more frequent earthquakes.
Therefore, even if the building achieves a Life Safety performance level, it would be
expected to provide less protection against economic loss (both direct and indirect
resulting from temporary loss of use) than a new building.

Since this type of performance-based design for seismic rehabilitation falls beyond the
scope of the Building Code, it will be important to confirm Building Department
acceptance of the performance objectives and design methodologies early in the
design process. Based on our experience with similar buildings undergoing substantial
alteration, the proposed criteria should be acceptable to the Building Officials.

"Substantial Alteration” is typically defined as any existing building undergoing:

= Major renovation

= Change-of-use

= Renovation affer being unoccupied for over 12 monihs
»  Modifications to extend the useful life of the building.

Buildings that undergo substantial alteration are typically required by most Building
Officials to include mandatory Life Safety upgrades (fire, barrier-free, and seismic). The
Life Safety seismic objective proposed herein is intended to meet this requirement.
Building renovations that do not fall within the "triggers” for substantial alteration
sometimes will address voluntary Life Safety upgrades. Again, the objective proposed
herein is that typically used for voluntary Life Safety seismic upgrades.
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We will propose to meet with the governing Building Department (City of Kenmore) to
present the stated seismic performance objectives, the proposed methodologies, and
the findings of this report in order to obtain "preapproval’ of the evaluation/rehabilitation
concepts to be used for the renovation design.

Seismic Hazard Determination
The seismic hazard in the Puget Sound region is governed by three types of events:

= (1) somewhat frequent, deep events below Puget Sound (similar in nature to but
larger in magnitude than the events of the last century)

» (2) rare, deep events in the Cascadia Subduction Zone in coastal Washington and
Oregon (last major event was in the year 1700)

= (3) very rare, shallow crustal faulting in the local region (last major event was around
the year 200).

All of these events contribute to the probabilistic seismic hazard determination in the
Seattle area, but the seismicity tends to be dominated by the close, shallow events.

For a specified earthquake frequency, the level of ground shaking is related to the
location of the building site as well as the type of soils at the site. The seismic response
parameters for St. Edward are based on United States Geological Survey mapping using
the site location at 14445 Juanita Drive, Kenmore, Washington of 47.732°N, 122.257°W.
The site soils are assumed to conform to Site Class C.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

St. Edward was designed and constructed prior to the adoption of modern seismic codes.
The building benefits from a fairly regular plan layout and a system of tied reinforced
concrete elements somewhat better than average for buildings of this vintage. However,
the building lacks an adequate lateral resisting system.

There is a full height 2-inch separation joint from Floor 2 through the Roof that was
provided as a part of the original structural design. While this size joint is not large enough
to meet today's standard for building seismic separation, the joint will cause the buildings
on either side of the joint fo behave as two independent buildings and are therefore
addressed in this manner for this Tier 1 and 2 seismic shear stress assessment. The joint
occurs where the main south Dormitory Wing meets the wider main enfrance building.
The Dormitory Wing (4-story) and the very southern 3-story wing are seismically joined
together. The main entrance (4-story), the tower (6-story), dining wing (high 2-story) and
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east wing (2-story) are seismically tied together by the concrete diaphragm slabs and
lack any other jointing between these wings.

We have performed an ASCE 31 Tier 1 evaluation of the structure, and the results are
summarized as follows:

TORSION

"The estimated distance between the story center of mass and the story center of rigidity
shall be less than 20 percent of the building width in either plan dimension for Life Safety
and Immediate Occupancy.” (Tier 2: Sec. 4.3.2.6)

The dormitory wing has only east-west resisting elements on the south
end of the building placing the major resisting element at great
distance from the center of mass. This can cause significant added
demand on the lateral resisting system.

COMPLETE FRAMES

"Steel or concrete frames classified as secondary components shall form a complete
verticalHload-carrying system." (Tier 2: Sec. 4.4.1.4.1)

The dormitory wing includes a series of vertical column transfers at the
Second Floor Level. Subject to shaking and resulting excessive
building drift this condition can create a vertical instability during a
seismic event.

SHEAR STRESS

The results of the shear stress calculations for the St Edward building considered as two
separate lateral resisting system buildings as defined by the separation joint at the north
end of the dormitory wing is found below: .

North-South Direction East-Waest Direction

Dormitory Wing Level Shear Stress ~ Conforms Shear Stress ~ Conforms
(psi) (psi)

4th Floor 78 Yes 396 No

3rd Floor 220 No 1124 No

2nd Floor 261 No 94] No
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North-South Direction  Fast-West Direction
Dormitory Wing Level Shear Stress ~ Conforms Shear Stress ~ Conforms
(psi) (psi)
1st Floor 220 No 601 No

North-South Direction East-West Direction

Tower/North and/Diningand  gheqr Stress Shear Stress

East Wing Level (psi) Conforms (psi) Conforms
Upper Tower 1800 No 1800 No
Lower Tower 1387 No 1387 No

4th Floor 391 No 720 No

3rd Floor 440 No 869 No
2nd Floor 705 No 900 No

1st Floor 577 No 997 No

The calculated shear stresses for the building far exceed the shear stress limit of 110 psi for
all except the north-south direction for the uppermost story of the dormitory building wing.
The 110 psi is based on an ultimate strength of f'c = 3,000 psi. The ultimate concrete
strength used today is related to the historic working stress f'c=750 psi designated in the
original design drawing notes.

The shear stress must be less than 110 psi in order to satisfy the Tier 1 criteria. Shear stress in
excess of this limit is indicative of the lack of sufficient lateral resisting elements of the
building structure.

HOLLOW CLAY TILE INTERIOR WALLS

Hollow Clay Tile (HCT) were commonly used in this age and type of construction. They
were used at the time in large part for their fire resistance. HCT, however, is a rigid
material subject to brittle cracking failure when undergoing lateral building displacement
induced by earthquake shaking. These are nonbearing interior partition walls with the
potential for seismic damage. HCT damage would not diminish the integrity of the
primary structural system but are at risk to cause Life Safety falling hazard and/or egress
blockage of occupied buildings.
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EXTERIOR MASONRY FACADE

The concrete structural frame is clad with brick masonry and some cast concrete
functional/decorative elements. The original design shows steel angle ledgers providing
vertical support to the masonry, however, no other horizontal steel anchorage is
indicated for tying the masonry back to the concrete frame. Without lateral fies, the
masonry can fail out-of-plane and is at risk to cause Life Safety falling hazards and/or
egress blockage of occupied buildings.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SEISMIC REHABILITATION

We recommend the following rehabilitation upgrades, in descending order of pricrity, to
meet the seismic performance objective:

s Primary Lateral Resisting System: As indicated by the stress check and other seismic
deficiencies noted, the building lacks an adequate lateral resisting system that would
be sufficient to meet the Life Safety seismic objective of mandatory or voluntary
seismic upgrades. We propose addressing this with added concrete shear wall
elements placed within the building, of length and size sufficient to mitigate this
deficiency and placed in consideration of other functional or historic considerations.
These added reinforced concrete walls would be distributed throughout the building
balanced to draw lateral forces from the existing to within acceptable limits and
sufficient for overall Life Safety. As such, added walls are proposed within the interior
of the building. However, in the dining wing, walls are to be positioned facing the
inside of the existing exterior walls for consistency with visual sensitivity of this historic
interior space. Refer to accompanying concept sketches at the appendix of this

report.

s Exterior Masonry: Pinning the existing brick masonry back to the existing concrete
frame is recommended at maijor egress exit/entrance locations of the building. This is
typically accomplished by using a stainless steel helical pin ("Helifix", 8mm diameter)
and provided over a swath of the exterior fagade to reduce the risk of falling brick
facade (falling hazard, and/or blocking hazard) at the locations where that can
occur due to an earthquake. Refer to accompanying concept sketches at the
appendix of this report.

s Hollow Clay Tile (HCT) Interior Partitions: HCT are subject to damage due to a
shaking event. We recommend that HCT be removed or reinforced with strong-

backing (can be one-sided) at locations of defined egress (vestibules, major hallways,

stairways) of an occupied building.
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